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The original entrance to the Imperial 
& Chifley Caves, from James Wiburd’s 

private photo collection. 
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Contact  
 

Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust 
4655 Jenolan Caves Road, 
Jenolan Caves NSW 2790 
 
 
Administration Office 
Ph: 1300 76 3311 
Fax: 02 6359 3092 
Hours: 9am to 5pm 
 
 
Cave Operations 
Ph: 1300 76 3311 
Fax: 02 6359 3307 
Hours: 8.30am to 5.30pm 
 
 
Technical Services 
Ph: 1300 76 3311 
Fax: 02 6359 330 
 
 
Jenolan Caves House 
Ph: 1300 76 3311 
Fax: 02 6359 3227 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Building DeBurgh’s 

Bridge, from James 

Wiburd’s private photo 

collection. 

The cover photo was taken by 
Cave Guide, Scott Lewry, at The 

Shrine, in the Ribbon Cave. 
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Jenolan Caves 

Reserve Trust 

acknowledges the 

traditional 

custodians of the 

land at Jenolan, the 

Gundungurra and 

Wiradjuri peoples, 

and pays respect to 

all elders, both past 

and present.

Painted by 
Gundungurra artist, 

Tom Brown. 
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James Wiburd, from his 
private photo collection. 



Jenolan Caves Annual Report 2016-2017 Page 7 

Our Role
R o l e

The Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust is a body 

corporate established under the provisions of 

the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 and 

is responsible for the care, control and 

management of the Visitor Use and Services 

Zone (VUSZ) within the Jenolan Karst 

Conservation Reserve. The Trust is responsible 

to the Minister for the Environment. 

The role of the Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust is 

to protect, conserve and present the natural 

and cultural heritage of the VUSZ in an 

environmentally, socially and financially 

responsible and sustainable manner.  

The VUSZ is an area of about 50 hectares 

within the larger Jenolan Karst Conservation 

Reserve. The VUSZ contains most of the show 

and adventure caves, all visitor 

accommodation and facilities and associated 

utilities and services.  

The Trust collaborates closely with the 

National Parks and Wildlife Service, the 

Greater Blue Mountains World Heritage 

Committee and with Aboriginal communities 

on joint park management activities across 

the Reserve and across the wider Greater Blue 

Mountains World Heritage Area.  

V i s i o n

Our vision is to ensure that the Jenolan VUSZ 

is highly valued, conserved and enjoyed by 

present and future generations while making 

a significant contribution to regional 

prosperity.  

C o r e v a l u e s

We uphold the NSW public sector core values 

of service, integrity, trust and accountability.  

A i m s a n d  

O b j e c t i v e s

The Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust Strategic 

Plan 2015–18 was adopted in September 

2015 and it commits the Trust to four primary 

goals underpinned by our role and vision. 

G o a l 1 : Provide quality visitor 

facilities, services and infrastructure by 

developing and maintaining ecologically 

sustainable, culturally appropriate, safe and 

enjoyable visitor facilities, services and 

experiences.  

G o a l 2 : Conserve natural and 

cultural heritage values by protecting, 

conserving and presenting the natural and 

cultural heritage values of the Jenolan Caves 

reserve and prioritising activities that 

recognise the Karst Conservation Reserve 

status of the area, its world heritage, state 

and national heritage values and significant 

catchment and Aboriginal cultural heritage 

values; 

G o a l 3 : Strengthen partnerships 

by developing operational and research 

partnerships to enhance the Trust’s 

commercial viability and by implementing 

sound environmental research and support 

programs across the reserve that assist in the 

protection, conservation and presentation of 

reserve values; and 

G o a l 4 : Improve organisational 

effectiveness and sustainability by becoming a 

more effective, innovative, sustainable and 

customer-focused organisation and by 

providing a safe and rewarding work 

environment for our employees.  

These goals and values remain highly relevant 

to the Trust’s operation. 
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Photo by Cave Guide, Scott Lewry. 
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Administrator ’s

Report  
The Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust is a relatively 

small and financially self-reliant agency which 

is part of the Office of Environment Heritage 

(OEH). The Administrator represents the Trust 

and is appointed by the Minister for the 

Environment and is accountable to the Chief 

Executive of OEH. Trust staff are seconded 

from OEH. 

In September 2015, the Trust developed a 

strategic business plan to identify its goals and 

key strategies for the next 3-5 years. Work is 

now well under way on implementing this 

plan with achievements and good progress 

being made already during 2016-17. These are 

summarised in the overview below.  

G o a l 1 : P r o v i d e
q u a l i t y v i s i t o r 
f a c i l i t i e s , 
s e r v i c e s a n d 

i n f r a s t r u c t u r e  

 Achieving a 3.0% increase in annual cave

visits over the previous 5-year average

with the highest ever monthly visitation

since 2011 being recorded in April 2017

(29,152);

 Implementation of on-line booking for

cave tours through the new Booking Boss

system from February 2017. Visitor

experience within the precinct including

parking, has improved and customer

response has been excellent.

 Increasing room occupancy rates by 2.5%

over the previous 5-year average, with a

4.6% increase in Caves House occupancy

rates being recorded in 2016-17;

 Hosting 51 recreational caving and cave

diving activities by groups such as the

Sydney University and Metropolitan

Speleologist Societies and the NSW Cave 

Rescue Squad;  

 Installation of Wi-Fi access points

throughout the Grand Arch precinct to

enable free public access to the internet

and very fast download of the Jenolan

Caves App in late August;

 Completion of a sediment report for

proposed works in Blue Lake and

Surveyors Creek;

 Completion of a soft wash of all buildings

in Grand Arch Precinct;

 Hosting the last leg and award ceremony

of the biggest ever Six Foot Track

Marathon Event in March 2017, attracting

almost 900 runners and 2,500 spectators

to the Reserve;

 Upgrading of Gatehouse fire alarm

systems;

 Refurbishment of the Binda Cabins;

 Refurbishment of Binoomea Lodge which

is now back online for guest use;

 Development and implementation of a

Property Improvement Plan for the

refurbishment of Caves House and which

included the engagement of an interior

designers, architects and heritage

advisers;

 Completing stakeholder consultation for

the preparation of a Reserve Master Plan

and signage replacement program;

 Completion of major repairs to the

Jenolan Schoolhouse;

 Hosting special events such as concerts,

Yulefest and additional school holiday

activities at the Caves.
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G o a l  2 :  C o n s e r v e

n a t u r a l  a n d  

c u l t u r a l  h e r i t a g e  

v a l u e s   

 Revision of the draft plan of management

for the Jenolan Karst Conservation

Reserve and the Conservation

Management Plan.

 Updating the Trust’s Movable Heritage

Strategy to better conserve and present

historic items in Caves House and

elsewhere.

 Updating the Caves House Conservation

Management Plan;

 Purchase of historic photographs

reflecting the history of the Jenolan

reserve;

 Completion of important conservation

and building maintenance works to staff

cottages including to heritage significant

buildings including the Electricians

Workshop (Old Diesel Shed) and the

Schoolhouse;

 Ongoing recording of wildlife observations

particularly of rare or threatened species;

and

 Continuing with innovative environmental

initiatives within the caves such as the

replacement of galvanised steel handrails

and stairs with stainless steel, installation

of LED lighting and cave cleaning

activities.

G o a l  3 :  S t r e n g t h e n

p a r t n e r s h i p s   

The Trust continued to develop strong 

partnerships and collaborations with: 

 Office of Environment and Heritage

including the NPWS Blue Mountains

Branch; Asset Utilisation Branch and the

Landform Rehabilitation Team based at

Bathurst;

 Kanangra Boyd to Wyangala Link

Partnership Group, part of the Great

Eastern Ranges initiative;

 Oberon Council, Mayfield Gardens and

the Blue Mountains Attractions Group on

joint regional tourism initiatives including

referrals through bluemtns.com.au;

 Oberon Correctional Facility for

maintenance works in the Reserve;

 Oberon High School for hospitality

training within Caves House;

 The Gundungurra Indigenous Land Use

Agreement (ILUA) Committee and the

Greater Blue Mountains World Heritage

Advisory and Management Committees;

 The Australian Museum in offering

‘Science in the Caves’ to secondary school

students and the Museum’s Science

Festival;

 Australian Caves and Karst Association

and the Australian Tourism Export

Council;

 The Jenolan Caves Heritage and

Protection Society;

 Volunteer bush regenerators, the Jenolan

Rural Fire Brigade, university research

teams and volunteer speleologists who

continue to be supported in various ways

by the Trust;

 At the end of June 2017, the Trust had

46,162 Facebook fans, 3,283 Instagram

followers and 215 LinkedIn followers; as

well more than 3,000 subscribers to the

Trust e-newsletter.
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G o a l  4 :  I m p r o v e

o r g a n i s a t i o n a l

e f f e c t i v e n e s s  a n d

s u s t a i n a b i l i t y

There has been continued improvement in 

applying contemporary public sector and 

business management practices at Jenolan 

including: 

 Ongoing support was provided for the

Trust WHS Committee which has assisted

with the identification and

implementation of critical Trust initiatives

including the completion of a Confined

Space Audit and Management Plan; a

Hazardous Materials Audit, Management

Plan and registers; and a revised Snow

Policy;

 Recreational policies and consents were

developed including the Unmanned Aerial

Vehicles (Drones) at Jenolan Caves Policy

and Fact Sheet and the Standard Event

Agreement for the proposed Rhythm

Hunters Concert;

 Installing a new internal phone system

together with new computer hardware

and software upgrades including server

and server software replacements and the

installation of new hospitality

management systems enabling more cost-

effective integration with our ACCPAC

accounting and office software;

 Purchase of a forklift for better

management of manual handling risks;

 Upgrade of closed circuit television

monitors;

 In terms of the Trust business

performance as reflected in our KPI’s in

2016-17:

o Strong financial performance across

all accommodation was achieved in

2016-17. Revenue per available room

(all rooms) showed a 9.5% increase,

while average room rate (all rooms)

showed an increase of 2.4%. The best

performer relative to previous years 

was The Gatehouse with revenue per 

available room up 12%, room rate up 

5% and occupancy rate up 1.6%; 

o Performance of Caves House Hotel

was also notable with only a very

slight increase in average room rate

(0.6%), but good performance in

terms of RevPAR (10.5% increase) and

occupancy rate (4.6% increase);

o Revenue per FTE was up 6.8% while

expenditure per FTE was down 2.8%

with no significant decline being

reported in visitor and guest service;

and

o Gross trading profit at the end of June was

$1,006,461; Net Profit $451,427;

$373K ahead of consolidated budget

and one of the best profit results ever

achieved by the Trust, enabling future

reinvestment of funds into much

needed areas.

I would like to especially thank the very 

dedicated and committed Trust staff and our 

hardworking management team for 

continuing to show dedication to the mission, 

aims and objectives of the Trust. I want to 

particularly thank and acknowledge the great 

contribution made by our acting General 

Manager David Bragg and our new Cave 

Operations Manager Geoff Melbourne for an 

exceptional year which produced some 

excellent visitor service, financial and 

operational results. A special thanks is also 

extended to the Chief Executive OEH and 

those many staff members of OEH who have 

provided specialist and professional advice to 

the Trust over the past 12 months. The Trust 

has also been very fortunate to have strong 

and ongoing support from the Minister for the 

Environment and her office, which is also very 

gratefully acknowledged.  

Bob Conroy 

Administrator  

Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust 

Robert Conroy is Administrator of the Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust, and is appointed in accordance 
with Section 58 (Z) of the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974.
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Overview
During the last 12 months the Trust has performed 
very well in relation to its trading activities, 
producing an excellent profit result which has 
enabled additional cash reserves to be generated. 

This profit has allowed the Trust to reinvest funds 

back into the Visitor Use and Services Zone. This 

includes projects such as Refurbish Binda Cabins 

($47K), Upgrade Fire Safety in Gatehouse ($146k), 
Sewage Treatment Plant Upgrade ($36k) and Rock-

fall Protection works ($48k), just to name a few, for 

a total of $430,000 reinvested cash for projects 
during the course of the year.

Staff Cottages which were refurbished last financial 

year, have been made available for rental through a 

local real estate agent. 

The Conservation Management Plan (CMP) and the 
Master Plan are near completion and will be 

available for public viewing early in the new 

financial year.

The Trust Work Health & Safety Committee 

has been active in monitoring both staff and visitor 
safety throughout the year.

The Trust has been improving its AMS (Asset 

Management System) system over the past 12 

months including the use of a drone to 

enhance the accuracy of recordings and of 
work performed. This has assisted both the 

Masterplan and CMP process and is also of 

assistance currently as we apply for new grant 
funding for various projects.

The old School House which is one of the 

major heritage listed buildings on site and is 

used daily by the Guide staff as the Plughole

Adventure Tour starting point has also been 
refurbished. The refurbishment also included

the renovation of the adjoining toilet facility 
adjacent to the School House. 

Planning is well under way for the elevator

refurbishment and the Café refurbishment,

both due to commence early in the new 

financial year.

David Bragg 

Acting General Manager 

Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust 
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Market ing
The Trust marketing area has continued to 

focus on building both hospitality and caves 

business.   

This was achieved by detailed planning, with 

some broad marketing strategies, and 

strategies that targeted specific demographic 

and geographic markets, moving away from 

traditional to online marketing, and 

measuring the results. Online surveys, Google 

Analytics, and online booking software 

enabled marketing decisions to be made, 

based on first hand findings.    

Approximately 500 visitors completed 

Jenolan’s online survey, adding to a growing 

database, which provides invaluable 

information about how visitors research 

holiday destinations and also about their 

expectations and perceptions of Jenolan.   

S e l e c t i o n  o f  

R e s e a r c h  F i n d i n g s

Past survey recipients have confirmed the 

trend that women make up to 80% of travel 

and holiday decisions. However, in 2016-17, a 

growing number of men indicated that they 

made the decision to visit Jenolan.  This shows 

the potential of marketing to men, especially 

in the lead up to holidays. 

Jenolan’s online booking reports show that 

when individual customers book online, they 

spend significantly more per session than 

when they book in person or on the phone. 

Online purchasers tend to choose the more 

expensive tours and the tours that are placed 

near the top of the list of choices.  

The survey shows a slight increase in families 

seeking value for money. After the Home 

Page, the prices page is the most viewed page 

on the Jenolan website.  So, although 55% of 

visitors say their main focus was to discover 

new and fascinating things, Google Analytics 

indicates that price was the more likely 

concern.   

74% of Jenolan’s visitors are age 40 or older. 

Jenolan’s customers consider themselves 

active but not seeking extreme adventure. 

This is borne out by the fact that our show 

cave tours are still our most popular product, 

even though our Adventure Caving is 

extremely popular.   

Most Jenolan survey respondents expect to 

find an experience of unspoiled nature, that is 

‘magical’, unique and relaxing, suggesting that 

Jenolan should market its unique aspects 

only.  Adventure, romance, fun for kids, and 

learning are experiences that can be found in 

many other holiday destinations.   

Very few survey respondents make spur-of-

the-moment decisions to visit Jenolan. 89% 

planned their visit before they left home, 

highlighting the need to promote to potential 

visitors online, in their planning stage, and 

before they even start planning. 

 12.7% of survey respondents came to Jenolan 

mainly for the overnight stay, rather than the 

cave tour.  This represents a slight increase 

from last year and suggests that Caves House 

may be increasing in popularity. 
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One third of survey participants were first 

time visitors.  But the rest were repeat 

visitors, with 21% saying they have visited 4 or 

more times previously. 25% said that good 

memories of their last visit made them want 

to visit again.  This reinforces the importance 

of good customer service and delivering a 

great overall experience. 

Internet information influenced 22% of survey 

respondents to visit Jenolan, and 14% were 

influenced by a special offer.   

Survey respondents claim they are rarely 

influenced by traditional promotions such as 

posters, magazines, newspapers and TV 

advertising.  They claim to be more influenced 

by the Internet, friends and social media, 

perceived as more authentic and trustworthy.  

Travellers still regard brochures, guidebooks, 

travel magazines as somewhat relevant, while 

Facebook ads are not even perceived as ads. 

A decreasing number of Jenolan’s guests are 

leaving reviews on Tripadvisor.  More are 

leaving reviews on Booking.com, where they 

can rate hotels on a number of points, 

resulting in a fairer review. This trend is 

extremely noticeable and if it continues, is 

good news for the hotel industry. 

From our web statistics we can see that 

electronic tablet use has dropped by 8%. 

Apple devices were used by 66% of viewers 

and are by far the most popular.  Apple device 

usage has increased by 15% from last year. 

22% of viewers used a Samsung device.  

Samsung devices have increased also, but by 

only 10%.  This information is relevant to 

future app requirements. 

Most Internet users view Jenolan’s website by 

mobile phone, but session duration on mobile 

phone is less than half the duration of a  

desktop session.  This means that mobile 

websites must be much clearer and easier to 

navigate, so that users can find what they 

need in a very short time. 

In 2016-17, people in 192 countries looked at 

Jenolancaves.org.au.  Most viewers were in 

Australia, but over 17,000 were in the US.  

Significant numbers of viewers were in the 

UK, Russia, Singapore, NZ, Canada, India, 

Hong Kong, Indonesia, Malaysia and Japan.   

Sessions in Algeria, Egypt, Libya, Argentina 

and Mexico increased drastically, due to paid 

Facebook ads, targeting hot climate countries.  

Sessions in Russia and Mongolia increased 

drastically also, in response to paid Facebook 

ads targeting cold climate countries. Although 

Jenolan does not receive many actual visitors 

from these countries, it clearly demonstrates 

how effective Facebook is for sending 

potential visitors to our website.  

Jenolan ranks well on search engines, thanks 

to ongoing optimization measures.  Also, 911 

other websites contained links to the Jenolan 

website.  Website referral traffic increased by 

52% over the year.  Referral traffic from social 

media increased by 29%.  The main websites 

that sent traffic to us were Facebook and 

Bluemts.com. This indicates that it is not 

necessary for our website to be at the top of 

search engine results, as long as it has links on 

other high profile websites. 

 B r o a d  S t r a t e g i e s

AdLoyalty.com.au, a Canowindra based 

creative agency, was commissioned to 

produce a set of short marketing videos. The 

videos focus on romance, adventure, fun, 

learning, conservation and uniqueness of 

Jenolan.  They promote Jenolan’s full product 

range for social media and website. 
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Jenolan maintains membership of a range of 

tourism organizations, including the Blue 

Mountains Attractions Group, the Blue 

Mountains Accommodation and Tourist 

Attractions Group, and Oberon Business & 

Tourism Association. This provided shared 

marketing opportunities, the chance to gain 

insight from other businesses and to provide 

assistance to smaller ones. 

Jenolan takes opportunity to help promote 

other attractions and tour operators in the 

Blue Mountains and Central West, through 

free links on the Jenolan website and through 

social media sharing. 

Jenolan also offers familiarization tours, 

dinners and overnight stays for journalists, 

film crews, tour operators, travel agents and 

other people who work in the tourism 

industry, such as staff from Visitor 

Information Centres, Destination NSW and 

Tourism Australia. 

Most traditional strategies have been 

gradually replaced by online tools, such as 

regular updates to jenolancaves.org.au, a 

presence on high profile 3rd party websites, 

search engine optimization, e-news to a 

database of more than 5,000, and a very 

strong reliance on social media, especially 

Facebook. 

T a r g e t e d  

S t r a t e g i e s

Apart from broad strategies, Jenolan targets 

geographic and demographic markets. The 2 

most important target markets are Australian 

retirees and international travellers, who can 

come to Jenolan mid-week and in off-peak 

times.   

During the year, a range of strategies were 

used to attract the international market. At 

the Australian Tourism Exchange (ATE), 

Jenolan met with 21 international journalists 

and 90 international travel agents and tour 

operators.  Trade discounts and information 

in Mandarin, Japanese, Korean and 

Indonesian are also incentives. Film crews 

from Japan and Malaysia, plus journalists 

from Israel, the US, the UK and Japan visited 

Jenolan.  Several major inbound tour 

operators and travel agents from Hong Kong, 

Taiwan, Sweden, France, China, Canada, 

Japan, Malaysia and the UK were invited to 

Jenolan.  

An independent sales representative was 

employed, to increase business from Tour 

Operators in 2017-2018. 

Next to the International market, retirees are 

Jenolan’s most important target market.  

Retirees enjoy the historic ambiance of Caves 

House. Senior Facebook followers display the 

strongest engagement with Jenolan’s 

Facebook posts.  Jenolan’s Facebook page has 

more than 46,000 followers, mostly female.

Discounted rates for interstate tour operators 

are used to attract the interstate market. 

Several snowfalls in August brought 

unexpected and invaluable free publicity, 

especially in Queensland. 

People who live within a 3 hour drive of 

Jenolan are another important market. 

Groupon, The Entertainment Book and 

website blogs highlighting news and history 

are all aimed at attracting this ‘local’ market. 

Jenolan also continues to enjoy a presence on 

regional radio. 

Once people move beyond the planning stage, 

and have actually started their travels, they 

can be reached by more traditional means.  

Often out of phone and Internet range, they 

still may be influenced by brochures, visitor 

information centres, and tourist publications.   
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To market to schools, 2 short videos were 

produced, featuring Jenolan’s educational 

program and conservation measures.   

The adventure market is vital for Jenolan, with 

the Blue Mountains a major destination for 

adventurer seekers.  Although Facebook 

promotions had an excellent reach, the most 

successful boost for Adventure Caving came 

through online cave tour bookings.  

Complimentary Adventure Caving photos 

generated excellent word-of-mouth publicity, 

as people share them on social media. 

Jenolan’s ongoing support for community 

fundraising is currently the main method of 

marketing to families. This year, Jenolan 

supported 226 organisations, mainly schools. 

In turn, many of these organisations 

promoted Jenolan on their websites, on 

Facebook and on event collateral. 

Carolyn Melbourne 

Marketing Coordinator 

Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust 

Busy day at Caves House, from James 
Wiburd’s private photo collection. 
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Organisat ional  Chart

 From James Wiburd’s 
private photo collection. 
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From the private 
collection of 

James Wiburd 
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Cave Operat ions
V i s i t a t i o n

2014/15 – 230261 

2015/16 – 233739 

2016/17 – 231849 

Despite several major natural incidents which 

had some impact on visitor experience, 

positive results were achieved. 

Compared to 2015/16 

Visitation..................................231,849 (-0.8%) 

Revenue...................................................+4.9% 

Expenditure.............................................+5.3% 

Number of Cave Tours...9423 (-410 or -4.17%) 

Revenue per FTE......................................+8.4% 

Total Expense per Visitor...........$11.92 (-2.3%) 

Total Revenue per Visitor........$26.55 (+13.2%) 

2016/2017 Financial Year: 

Total FTE........................................................27 

Number of Tours per FTE............................349 

Salaries & Wages as % of total expenses...86% 

FTE=Full time equivalent staff 

O n l i n e  T o u r

B o o k i n g s  

Online tour booking, via Booking Boss, was 

launched in February, for both online and in 

office over the counter sales.  The positive 

impact on sales income has been substantial.  

There have been great benefits for staff also, 

as a result of reduced queues in ticket office 

and fewer phone bookings. 

N e w  t o u r s

Development has been underway for two new 

tours which will be introduced in the new 

financial year: 

 The “Chifley’s Secret Chambers” tour is a

premium tour, with a strong history focus

and directed at mid week visitors.

 Science based cave tour and karst walk for

primary schools and high schools,

highlighting the scientific investigations

that are currently in progress in the

Chifley Cave.  These school excursion

activities are being specifically designed to

meet the requirements of the new NSW

school curriculum.

 First day of online tour bookings. 
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S o u v e n i r / G i f t S h o p

Planning was under way for moving the 

souvenir/gift shop to the Ticket Office early in 

the 2017/18 financial year.   

P r e s e n t i n g a t
S h o w s a n d 

C o n f e r e n c e s 

Four Caves Guides attended the Australian 

Cave & Karst Management Association’s 

annual general meeting at TeAnau on the 

South Island of New Zealand in May 2017.  At 

the Annual General Meeting, Acting Deputy 

Cave Operations Manager, Scott Melton, was 

re-elected to the committee of ACKMA, 

where he is part of a project to develop a 

national cave guide training certificate.  

Planning was underway for two of the 
Jenolan Caves guides to attend Speleo 2017, 

the 17th International Congress of 

Speleology in Penrith, due to take place in 

July 2017. Cave Guide, Dr Anne Musser will 
be presenting a paper on Jenolan’s 

palaeontology.  175 Congress delegates are 
expected to visit Jenolan Caves during the 

event. 

Several Jenolan Staff manned a stall at the 

Sydney Science Festival, hosted by the 

Australian Museum, in Sydney, to showcase 

Jenolan’s new science based school program. 

This generated encouraging levels of interest 

from teachers. 

S t a f f

Interviews were held in late May for new 

guiding staff, resulting in two new permanent 

staff. 

R o c k  S t a b i l i s a t i o n

Following several rock falls, which caused 

significant damage to external infrastructure 

near the Blue Lake, stabilisation work was 

undertaken by Pan Civil, above the Lucas Cave 

exit, outside of the Devils Coach House Cave, 

behind the Hill Flats and on the hill, east of 

Carpark No. 1.   

W i b u r d  P h o t o

C o l l e c t i o n  

The Trust was extremely fortunate to receive 

a substantial collection of original 

photographs and artifacts belonging to James 

Wiburd. Wiburd was Superintendent of the 

Caves from 1903 to 1932, and discoverer of 

several of Jenolan’s most famous caves.  

The collection features previously unseen 

pictures of Jenolan from Wiburd’s personal 

collection.  This amazing collection was 

donated to the Trust by Harley and Susan 

Lane, who also generously gifted a set of 4 

wooden panels, beautifully carved by George 

Wiburd.   

Historic infrastructure 
featured on new Chifley’s 

Secret Chambers Tour. 
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T e c h n o l o g y

In May, popular morning news TV show, 

Sydney Sunrise, achieved a live broadcast and 

interview from deep underground in the 

Lucas Cave.  

Lighting throughout the cave system has 

benefitted from the ongoing installation of 

LED lighting.  Benefits include longevity and 

reduced power consumption. 

Geoff Melbourne 

Manager Cave Operations 

Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust 

Sydney Sunrise 
crew preparing to 

broadcast live 
from the Lucas 

Cave. 
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Jenolan Caves House

R e v e n u e 

G e n e r a t e d

Visitor accommodation generated revenue of 

$1,652,000. The annual rooms sold was 

13,506, showing an average occupancy rate of 

40%. The annual revenue from rooms sold 

and accommodation are on par with 2015-

2016. The occupancy rate was up slightly from 

39.27%. Occupancy rate varied from a low of 

29% in February to a high of 55% in July. 

The Caves Café generated annual revenue of 

$1,249,000, up slightly from the previous year 

of $1,193,000.  

Chisolms Restaurant generated revenue of 

$1,295,000, up slightly from $1,263,000 on 

the previous year.  

Chisolm’s Restaurant continues to provide 

local artist performances most Saturday 

nights. 

The Gift Shop generated revenue of $218,000, 

down from $309,000 the previous year. In the 

new Financial Year, the Gift Shop will move to 

a more visible location within the Ticket 

Office. We are hoping this move will generate 

increased revenue in the new year. The Gift 

Shop sells souvenirs and basic supplies and is 

open 7 days per week.  

P e r s o n n e l

During the year, the Trust placed much less 
reliance on travelling staff and much greater

emphasis was placed into retaining and

employing local staff from our region.

Contract staff were employed in the first few 

months of the year for the role of Hotel 

Manager but in the second half of the year 

this role was not filled as part of trial period 
with different reporting arrangements. 
Considerable savings were made in contract

wages during 2016/17 , being a total of 
$84,000 compared with $192,000 in 2015/16. 

The services of an agency are still being 

utilized, to supply staff from Japan, 

predominately for Housekeeping and Kitchen 

roles. These staff rotate in and out on a six 

monthly basis.  

Greater emphasis has been placed on 

recruiting staff from local towns. Considerable 

effort is being focused on reducing staff 

turnover and increasing skills. In-house 

training continues to provide better staff and 

has seen a reduction in guest complaints. 

F o o d a n d 

B e v e r a g e 

F a c i l i t i e s

Food & Beverage Operations incorporate 

Chisolms Grand Dining room, Jeremiah’s Bar, 

Caves Café day visitor facility and Kanangra 

Boyd Gallery function room, catering for as 

many as 120 guests. 

Following on from last year, being a remote 

location still presents its challenges in 

procuring goods and services. Our supplier

base has been working with Jenolan, and 

pricing has been able to be negotiated to suit

our situation. Some suppliers have continued

to reduce their cost of goods, and wherever 
possible, local suppliers have been sourced

for supplying local products. 

A c c o m m o d a t i o n

Accommodation at Jenolan consists of four 

accommodation units, including Caves House

(38 rooms), Mountain Lodge (30 Motel Style 

Studios), Gatehouse Backpacker Lodge (14 

rooms) and Jenolan Cottages (8 Cabins). 

David Bragg, Acting General Manager 

Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust
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From the private 
collection of 

James Wiburd 



Jenolan Caves Annual Report 2016-2017 Page 27 

Technical  Serv ices
The Jenolan Technical Services Team of 10 

expert staff represents a range of trades, 

including Carpenter, Electrician, Horticulturist, 

Mechanical Fitters, Tool Maker and Motor 

Trimmer. Constantly busy behind-the-scenes, 

the team performs all jobs involving building, 

mechanical and electrical work, fabrication 

and welding.  They maintain all vehicles, 

equipment and boilers.  They maintain the 

water supply and the sewage treatment plant. 

They manage the storm water, car parks and 

traffic.  They assist other Jenolan staff in 

numerous ways, on a daily basis.  

When necessary, the team is supplemented 

by independent contractors including Oberon 

Correctional Centre , which helps out with 

maintaining bushwalks and removing debris.  

T r a i n i n g

This year, staff obtained or updated 

qualifications in forklift driving and chainsaw 

operation. Along with all Jenolan staff, 

Technical Services staff took part in Fire 

Safety Awareness Training and Fire Warden 

Training. As most Jenolan staff come into 

contact with the general public, Technical 

Services staff also took part in a Managing 

Aggressive Behaviour course. 

At weekly ‘Tool box’ talks, the team discussed 

job safety and took the opportunity to share 

information.  For example, a Tool Box talk 

about testing water samples was a most 

informative session. 

C a v e s  H o u s e

Caves House and all adjacent buildings 

underwent an external wash, which has 

brightened them up significantly.  As issues 

were reported, repair and maintenance work 

was done on taps, water supply, water 

heaters and issues relating to electricity 

supply.  Normal maintenance issues were 

performed in the kitchen, for dishwashers, 

water softeners and sourcing/replacing 

equipment.  In addition to these day to day 

tasks, the following work was done: 

 Painting of 1 office, 2 hallways and 1

Vernon Wing room.

 Revamping of swinging doors hinges for

the Library, Ballroom and Restaurant, in

keeping with the period ambience.

 Installation of new staircase to the lift

room, and full service of the lift.

 Moving of the souvenir shop from Caves

House to the Ticket Office.

 Fitting of 2 new stoves and bench tops in

Chisolm’s kitchen.
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M o u n t a i n  L o d g e

Issue arose relating to new phones and phone 

lines, and an electric air curtain was installed 

at the main entrances, to deter insects from 

entering the building. 

C a v e s  C a f e

With the much anticipated 

upgrade/refurbishment of The Caves Café, 

some of the old tired equipment was replaced 

and a new chip warmer was sourced. A new 

mobile fridge/freezer was sourced and 

purchased, saving substantial hiring fees. 

G a t e  H o u s e

Fire protection was upgraded in the Gate 

House backpacker lodge, including the Tech 

Services Office. While these areas were being 

upgraded, all the contents had to be relocated 

and returned on completion.   

S t a f f  C o t t a g e s

As staff cottages were rented, reverse cycle 

air conditioners were installed in Cottages 

14B, 15, 20 and 6.  The team performed 

general yard maintenance to all other 

unoccupied cottages. 

O l d  S c h o o l  H o u s e

In Carlotta Carpark, contractors were 

employed to completely renovate the 

heritage-listed Old School House, which is 

used as a preparation area for Adventure 

Caving.  It received a new roof, ceiling, paint, 

carpets and blinds.  The laundry was 

upgraded.  The adjoining toilet block was 

rendered, painted and upgraded internally. 

J e n o l a n  C a v e s

C o t t a g e s  

All 8 self-contained cottages underwent 

refurbishment, with new furniture, carpet, 

linoleum and window treatments.  Oberon 

Correctional Centre revamped all the picnic 

tables, and general maintenance was 

performed on the alarm system. 

B i n o o m e a  C o t t a g e  

&  B e l l b i r d  C o t t a g e

Recently used as staff accommodation, these 

buildings were refreshed with paint, new 

lights and fire exit signs, to raise them to a 

standard where they could be available to 

guests as self-catered accommodation, once 

again. Binoomea Cottage was completely 

refurnished and kitchen re-equipped.  Track 

work was done and the yard was cleaned up, 

to bring Bellbird Cottage back on line. 

N o x i o u s  W e e d s  &

D e a d  A n i m a l s  

Weed spraying was done and dead animals 

were removed, as necessary. Ongoing pest 

and termite inspections were done by a 

contractor. 

P r e c i n c t  &  C a r

P a r k s  

The Technical Services Team coordinated 

traffic and car parking during special events 

and some public holidays. Parking bays were 

remarked in all three car parks. The 

Information Bay at Hampton was serviced. 
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The team worked with other Jenolan staff to 

ensure the success of the Six Foot Track 

Marathon. The purchase of extra portable gas 

barbeques certainly helped with the provision 
of food to spectators and participants. 

A portable freezer was hired for school 

holidays, public holidays and special events 

and the Oberon Correctional Centre 

maintained walking tracks and the supply of 

firewood for caves house.  

S e w a g e T r e a t m e n t
P l a n t 

To manage the sewage from approximately 

240,000 annual visitors, Jenolan has its own 

highly effective sewage treatment plant.  

Extensive work was done at the plant this 

year, aiming towards full automation.  Auto 

shutdown was installed on the effluent trough 

motor, which is a backup for the limit switch, 

and also on the pasveer aerator motors, in 

the event of effluent trough failure.  During 

the year, a range of contractors were engaged 

to: 
 Locate cement stabilization bags around a 

partially exposed sewer pipe adjacent to 
the sewage treatment plant.  This was in a 
very steep section and had to be done 
with rock climbing gear and by staff who 
were certified in working at heights;

 Supply and install the Open Channel Flow 
Meter and Data Logger;

 Supply & install a new gearbox and shaft 
in the aerator; 

 Install a rubber membrane to the 
decanting trough; 

. 

 Source and supply a new Alum pump from 
the United States;

 Supply and install a 50 series multi para 
controller, digital sensor and immersible 
probe;

 Reline sewer pipes adjacent to Caves 
House; and

 Make CCTV inspection of culverts adjacent 

to Caves House. 

W a t e r  S u p p l y

Jenolan’s water supply is sourced from deep 

underground in the caves, but stored and 

treated in large tanks above ground. The 

water supply system now has an automatic 

chlorination dosing and turbidity monitor. 

This equipment has an alarm system with it 

which reports directly to the Technical 

Services Manager desktop – all part of 

stepping into the 21st century.  The team also 

performed boiler blowing and testing and acid 

treatment of the boilers, new staff were 

trained in this. Contractors were called in to 

install a circulating pump in the return line to 

the Caves Cafe, to re-route water pipe lines 

under the Grand Arch roadway, to repair a 

leaking valve on the concrete water tank and 

too install a direct fill valve on the steel water 

tank. 

R u b b i s h  R e m o v a l

A tree was removed from near the 

Carpenter’s Workshop.  Two dead trees, 

considered to be high risk, were removed 

from the Blue Lake Walk. 
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Bobcat and tipper were used to remove waste 

from the drying beds at the Sewage 

Treatment Plant.  

Cardboard was separated from general 

rubbish.  A contractor collected and disposed 

of general rubbish and cardboard daily. 

V e h i c l e s ,  P l a n t  &

E q u i p m e n t  

All vehicles have been serviced to meet 

registration and service book requirements. 

The Massey Fergusson and a Bobcat were 

sold.  A forklift was sourced and purchased. 

L o o k i n g A h e a d

There are exciting times ahead with the 

refurbishment of public areas within Jenolan 

Caves -  the lift and the Caves Café being first 

on the list. This will involve a committed effort 

from Tech Services members and patience 

from all staff and visitors.   

The team has continued to provide a 

worthwhile service to the Office of 

Environment & Heritage to help Jenolan Caves 

continue to be a safe place for all to enjoy. 

Don Breedon 

Acting Tech Services Manager 

Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust 
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Research & 
Development
The Reserve continues to be an important 

resource for scientific research. 

An ongoing research and monitoring program 

by the National Parks & Wildlife Service, for 

Jenolan’s rare Brush-tailed Rock Wallaby 

colony, has found that the population of this 

iconic species is slowly increasing.  Regular 

surveys and the establishment of permanent 

camera monitoring sites by Saving our Species 

Blue Mountains Branch and National Parks & 

Wildlife Service Kanangra Area staff have 

determined that the population is 

approximately 100 individuals.  Ongoing fox 

control has contributed to the success of the 

program by reducing predator impacts, with 

160 permanent bait stations established and 

maintained. 

The Sycamore Maple weed control program 

continues to significantly reduce the areas of 

steep terrain around Jenolan that are 

impacted by this invasive weed.  This highly 

successful program, funded by Central 

Tablelands Local Land Services, combines the 

skills of specialist bush regeneration 

contractors, National Parks & Wildlife Service 

Kanangra Area staff and volunteers from a 

wide range of backgrounds.  Regular 

volunteer weekends have been well attended. 

This year, Dr Chris Waring, from ANSTO, 

published new research about the links 

between above and below ground 

temperature, methanotropic bacteria 

(bacteria that eat methane) and gases 

(methane, radon and carbon dioxide) found in 

the Chifley Cave. The results, derived from 

several years of research at Jenolan, will 

change the way speleothem growth rates are 

measured and will have significant 

implications for paleo climate research. The 

paper has also revealed that approximately 

88 types of new methanotropic bacteria were 

discovered inside the Chifley Cave – a truly 

remarkable finding. Dr Waring has presented 

his findings to the Jenolan Caves staff. 

Rare mineral discoveries by Ross Pogson, 

Collection Manager, Geosciences, Australian 

Museum Research Institute, have revealed 

that Jenolan has been a site of animal activity 

for centuries, with surface access for much 

longer than previously thought. This new 

information is of interest to palaeontologists 

and to the wider scientific community. 

Ross’s Chifley Cave study is part of an overall 

mineral species survey of Jenolan Caves which 

began over 25 years ago with Armstrong 

Osborne and other scientists.  He is now 

continuing work, aimed at identifying rare 

phosphate minerals in the stratified white 

clay outcrop in Lower Katies Bower, Chifley 

Cave. He is identifying the range of mineral 

species present with X-ray Diffraction, as well 

as trying to establish if there is any order in 

the sequence of deposition of the minerals. 

Recently he has extended the study across 

the access path to the earth deposit that 

slopes down to the opposite cave wall. The 

phosphate minerals he has found there, with 

the assistance of Cave Guide Dr Anne Musser, 

are similar to those in the main outcrop, with 

some additions and subtractions. For 

example, the mineral Ardealite (calcium 

sulphate-phosphate), is present in the  

‘Potatoes’  in  the Lucas Cave and Grotto Cave 

(Chifley Cave), but not so far in the main 

Lower Katies Bower outcrop. 

In recent years, Dr Anne Musser, Honorary 

Research Associate with the Australian 

Museum, and a guide at Jenolan Caves, has 

recorded numerous animal and bird species in 
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the online Atlas of Living Australia. This year 

she has continued and also identified 7 bird 

special for the Atlas, that have not been 

recorded at Jenolan previously, along with an 

extensive list of butterfies and spiders. 

Dr Musser is also currently excavating a sooty 

owl pellet deposit in the Nettle Cave.  Stage 1 

has been completed and surface sediments 

have been analysed, revealing approximately 

2000 bone fragments from 20 small animal 
species hunted by sooty owls in the past 200 
years, telling us much about sooty owls and 

about small animals that were in the Jenolan 

area up to 200 years ago. The bones include 

the extinct White Footed Rabbit Rat. All bones 

have been cleaned, identified and carefully 

curated. 

At Speleo 2017 (the 17th International 

Congress of  Speleology), Dr Musser will be 
presenting to cave scientists from all over the 
world, about how Australian vertebrates use 

caves.  She will also give a short talk about 
Jenolan palaeontology, at this event as was

presented earlier in the year to the Greater

Blue Mountains World Heritage Advisory 

Committee. 

Familiar with the range of scientific work in 

progress at Jenolan, Dr Musser has 

incorporated their work and findings into 

Jenolan’s new school excursion program 

which will launch in 2018. 

All this research and activity by external 

organisations provides a better understanding 

of the caves and the surrounding 

environment, and will continue to add to 

Jenolan’s knowledge. 

This will translate to changes and 

improvements to guided tours, and will 

facilitate new and innovative activities aimed 

at schools, with science as a focus. 

Geoff Melbourne, Manager Cave Operations 

Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust 
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Corporate Resources
F i n a n c e  a n d  

A d m i n i s t r a t i o n

D e p a r t m e n t  

The Finance team is focused on meeting the 

information needs of both internal and 

external clients. This involves day to day 

processing, reporting, advice and project 

participation. 

The Finance team is headed by the Manager 

Business & Finance, and supported by the 

Finance Officer, HR Assistant and the 

Creditors/Debtors Officer.  

I n f o r m a t i o n

T e c h n o l o g y

During 2016/17 the Trust has seen the 

installation of the new telephone PABX and 

the installation of WiFi for both guest and 

Trust use.  

C a p i t a l  

E x p e n d i t u r e

Expenditure on Capital works, including 

planning and equipment totaled $456,000 

and consisted of: 

General infrastructure and Environmental 

Projects……………………………………......$261,340
IT Upgrade……………………………………….$54,869 

Telephone Upgrade & WiFi……… …..$139,791 

A n n u a l  f i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s

Below is a summary from the Statement of Comprehensive Income for 2015/16, compared with 

2016/17. 

2015/16 2016/17 

Revenues from continuing operations $10,465,107 10,691,775 

Total Expenses (Excluding Impairment Expenses) $10,419,956 11,239,226 

Profit/(Loss) from ordinary activities $45,149 ($547,451) 

FFrroomm  JJaammeess  

WWiibbuurrdd’’ss  

pprriivvaattee  pphhoottoo  

ccoolllleeccttiioonn..  
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OOppeenniinngg  ooff  tthhee  

RRiivveerr  CCaavvee  iinn  11990088,,  

ffrroomm  JJaammeess  

WWiibbuurrdd’’ss  pprriivvaattee  

pphhoottoo  ccoolllleeccttiioonn..  
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Statutory Informat ion  
S e n i o r  E x e c u t i v e  O f f i c e r s  

Total no. of senior executive positions:  Current year:  nil  Previous year:  nil 

Number of female senior executive officers:   Current year:  nil  Previous year:  nil 

C l a s s i f i c a t i o n  o f  P o s i t i o n s  

Listed below is the classification of positions for the last 3 years. 

 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 

General Manager 1 1 1 

Administration Manager 1 1 0 

Systems Administrator & Finance Officer 1 Deleted Deleted 

Manager Information, Communications & Technology 1 Deleted Deleted 

Manager Business & Finance 1 1 1 

Administration Officers Deleted Deleted Deleted 

Finance Officer 1 1 1 

Creditors / Debtors Officer 1 1 1 

Marketing Officer 1 1 1 

Manager Cave Operations 1 1 1 

Guides 
12 

2 vacant 
22 22 

Visitor Services Officers Deleted 2 2 

Team Leader – Plant Electrician 1 1 1 

Manager Technical Services and Capital Works 1 1 1 

Trades Officer (Electrician) 1 1 Deleted 

Trades Officers 2 2 2 

Maintenance Officer 
3.5 

1 vacant 
3.5 

1 Vacant 
3.5 

Manager Food & Beverage Operations 1 1 1 

Manager Rooms Division 1 1 1 

Manager Hospitality Operations Deleted 1 0 

Head Chef Caves House 1 1 1 

Customer Services Officer – Hospitality  27 35 

 

R e c r u i t m e n t  S t a t i s t i c s  

In all there are 75 permanent positions, covering 4 categories.  Permanent staff also engage in job 
sharing arrangements in the Cave Operations and Technical Services departments.  Temporary 
placements, and a casual workforce of up to 30, supplement the Trust’s team of permanent 
employees.   

The Trust’s estimated full time equivalent staff number (FTE), as at 30 June 2017, was 77.13. 
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T r a i n i n g  

Total training costs for the year were $34,595.   

Total paid staff hours for external training: 

2015/2016                 $0 

2014/2015                 $0 

2016/2017       $49,040 

Courses undertaken during the year included 

First Aid Training; OHS induction; 4WD 

Training; Fire Safety and Fire Warden. 

E E O  S t a t i s t i c s  

Total positions held by males and females are 

detailed below: 

 Males % Female % 

2014/2015 41 59 

2015/2016 39 61 

2016/2017 43 57 

 

Of the permanent employees, 46% are male 

and 54% are female.  In 2016/2017, the 

average remuneration for males was $46,347 

and females $39,222.   

Approximately 63% of all staff on the payroll 

are permanent/temporary, the balance are 

employed on a casual basis.  

Staff relieved in higher positions (minimum 5 

days relief) on 8 occasions. 

O v e r s e a s  V i s i t s  

There were no official overseas visits 

undertaken by staff during the 2016/2017 

financial year. 

 

 

 

 

 

C o n s u l t a n t s  

Throughout 2016-2017, the Trust 

supplemented internal resources with the 

following consultancy expertise (costs 

excluding GST): 

Equal to or more than $30,000 

E & S Consulting.................................$121,139 

Morse Consulting...............................$125,534 

Hotelplan..............................................$34,763 

CPS.....................................................$276,595 

McGregor Coxall...............................$119,830 

Under $30,000 

Financial Consultancies........................$25,120 

TOTAL CONSULTANCIES.....................$748,981 

A c c o u n t  P a y m e n t  

P e r f o r m a n c e  

Average value of creditor payments processed 

per month: 

Current (within 30 days) $464,492 

Less than 30 days overdue $24,446 

Between 30-60 days overdue 0 

Between 60-90 days overdue 0 

Over 90 days overdue 0 

Percentage of accounts paid on time 95% 

Total of accounts paid on time $5,573,915 

Total of accounts paid $5,867,279 

 

Commentary: 

 Payment is made on invoice after 

authorisation within terms through the 

Accounts Payable module of the Accpac 

accounting package. 

 Credit card use in the Trust has been in 

accordance with Premiers Memorandum 

and Treasurer’s Direction. 

The electronic transfer of funds using the 

Westpac Corporate Online facility was 

continued in 2016/2017  
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D i s a b i l i t y  P l a n s

The Trust provides a quality experience for all 

visitors to the Reserve.  Strategies for assisting 

people with special needs range from the 

construction of access ramps, to staff 

members helping visitors adjust to ‘closed’ 

cave environments.  Other services provided 

by the Trust include:  

 The provision of tailored-tours to cater to

the special needs of the elderly and

visually impaired.

 The grading of show caves in terms of the

number of steps and degree of difficulty.

Easier access for people with limited

mobility.  Seven show caves at Jenolan

now have 50mm stainless steel handrails

installed and steps regraded to make

them more standard.

 The continuation of relighting in the show

caves, to provide an optimum and even

level of step illumination, to assist visitors

to negotiate steps in the caves.

 Wheelchair assisted access to part of the

self guided tour at Jenolan and two

sections of currently guided tours.

 E t h n i c  A f f a i r s

P r i o r i t i e s  

S t a t e m e n t  

The four principles of cultural diversity 

enshrined in the NSW Government legislation 

are reflected in the Trust’s Ethnic Affairs 

Priority Statement.  

A key priority for the Trust is raising 

awareness of the unique natural and cultural 

resources of the karst conservation reserves 

within ethnic communities.  In this regard, 

initiatives have included:  

 The provision of ‘Meet and Greet

Programs’ to cater for the special needs of

visitors;

 Ongoing liaison with inbound tour

operators, to ensure that client/customer

services are tailored to meet individual

needs;

 Ongoing research into the needs of ethnic

groups and particular market segments;

and

 Provision of audio guides and phone app

for the self-guided tour at Jenolan, in

English, German, Mandarin, Japanese,

Korean, Russian, French and Spanish.

C u s t o m e r

R e s p o n s e

A Visitor Monitoring Program (VMP) has 

continued through 2016/2017 at Jenolan 

Karst Conservation Reserve, to provide 

feedback on a range of issues.  The VMP 

obtains feedback via the following methods:  

Onsite customer feedback surveys 

 Targeted surveys, activated when

significant issues are identified

 Feedback provided to staff

 Visitors Book comments

 Online Surveys.

The collected data is evaluated and used in 

the development of management actions. 

G o v e r n m e n t  

I n f o r m a t i o n  

( P u b l i c  A c c e s s )  

A c t  2 0 0 9  R e q u e s t s

There were no GIPA requests for information 

relevant to the Trust.   
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R i s k M a n a g e m e n t

The Trust has in place an Audit and 

Finance Committee which meets regularly 
to review and manage risks.   

A number of independent audits and 

assessments were undertaken throughout 

2016/2017 financial year, to mitigate risk 

inclusive of:  

 An audit and assessment of Hazardous 
Materials was completed;

 The Hazardous Materials Register was 
updated with buildings that were not 
previously surveyed as part of the Parsons 
Brinckerhoff Audit completed in 2007 and 
all works completed to date since 2007;

 Changes to the Public Health Act 2011 
required all Drinking Water Management 
Plans to meet the NSW Guidelines for 
Drinking Water Management Systems by 
September 2014.  The JCRT’s 2007 
Drinking Water Management Plan was 
reviewed, and a stakeholder lead risk 
workshop undertaken to develop a 
Drinking Water Management System to 
meet requirements of the Public Health 
Act 2011.An independent contractor was 
engaged to develop an integrated 
Drinking & Waste Water Management 
Plan, including a more consistent and 
accurate monitoring system. This has 
resulted in the procurement and 
installation of an automatic chlorinating 
system for all drinking water in the VUSZ;

 GN Consulting undertook a Fire Services 
Review in 2007 and returned to site in 
September 2013 to review the updated 
systems, and provide the BCA Essential 
Services Compliance Report (Fire Safety);

 GN Consulting, in conjunction with 
Wormald, also undertook witness testing 
and provided the Annual Fire Safety 
Statements for the commercial operation; 
and 

 During April/May Arup Consultants were

commissioned to report on current and

future Fire Safety requirements,

particularly in relation to major works to

be commenced in Caves House during the

next 12 – 18 months.

E n e r g y 

M a n a g e m e n t

The Trust has reviewed and is compliant with 

its Energy Management Policy.  The Trust also 

continues to install energy efficient bulbs 

throughout Jenolan Caves House and also 

upgrades show caves as existing infrastructure 

fails.   

W a s t e M a n a g e m e n t

All sewage, septic and garbage waste and 

refuse is removed from the Jenolan Karst 

Conservation Reserve and recycled where 

possible.  

Trimmed and removed trees are mulched and 

distributed on the Reserve gardens. 

P o l i c y a n d
P l a n n i n g 

A draft Conservation Management Plan for 

the Jenolan Karst Conservation Reserve has 
been prepared by Urbis Pty Ltd. During the 
year, the Trust also finalised the preparation 
of a draft masterplan for the VUSZ as well as a 

property improvement plan for Caves House. 

R e s e a r c h

Research projects that were completed or are 

on-going are identified in the Environment 

Report.  
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M a j o r  W o r k s  

C o m p l e t e d  o r

U n d e r w a y  

Major works programs completed or 

underway are listed below.  

 Commencement of works to upgrade the

elevator in Caves House

 Commencement works to recommission

the Hydro Generating Plant

 Refurbishment of the Staff Cottages

completed

 Works to provide WiFi to guests and the

replacement of the aging PABX system

completed

 The Gatehouse backpacker lodge was

upgraded for fire safety as per

recommendations in the Arup fire safety

report.

H a z a r d o u s

M a t e r i a l s  

A hazardous materials Audit has been 

completed by Hibbs & Co in relation to all 

hazardous materials that may be on site 

including asbestos and a full report has been 

issued to Management on the safety and 

management of these materials. 

E n v i r o n m e n t a l
T r u s t G r a n t 

NSW Environmental Trust Grant funding of 

$743,000 was received in 2013, for the 
removal of all ferrous materials in the 

Jenolan show cave system.  Works were 

initiated in November 2013 and are now 
completed.  

P u b l i c a t i o n s

The Trust publishes a variety of in-house 

brochures and information sheets on the 

services and facilities it provides, which are 

available to the public at various tourist 

sites around NSW and at Jenolan Caves.   

O t h e r

Annual Reports. 

Printing Annual Report 2016/2017 

Total external cost – Nil. 

The Trust’s Annual Report is available on the 

Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust website 

www.jenolancaves.org.au 

Melinda Gilmore,  

Acting Finance Manager 

Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust 

 

PPhhoottoo  bbyy  CCaavvee  GGuuiiddee,,  DDrr  AAnnnnee  MMuusssseerr  

http://www.jenolancaves.org.au/
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I n t e r n a l  A u d i t  a n d  R i s k  M a n a g e m e n t  A t t e s t a t i o n  

S t a t e m e n t  f o r  t h e  2 0 1 6 - 2 0 1 7  F i n a n c i a l  Y e a r  f o r  

t h e  J e n o l a n  C a v e s  R e s e r v e  T r u s t  
 

I, Robert Conroy am of the opinion that the Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust has internal audit and risk 
management processes in operation that are, excluding the exceptions or transitional arrangements 
described below, compliant with the eight (8) core requirements set out in the Internal Audit and 
Risk Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector, specifically: 

 

C o r e  R e q u i r e m e n t s   

Risk Management Framework 

1.1 The agency head is ultimately responsible and accountable for risk management 

in the agency 

Compliant 

1.2 A risk management framework that is appropriate to the agency has been 

established and maintained and the framework is consistent with AS/NZS ISO 

31000:2009 

Compliant 

Internal Audit Function 

2.1 An internal audit function has been established and maintained 

 

Compliant 

2.2 The operation of the internal audit function is consistent with the International 

Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 

Compliant 

2.3 The agency has an Internal Audit Charter that is consistent with the content of 

the ‘model charter’ 

Compliant 

Audit and Risk Committee 

3.1 An independent Audit and Risk Committee with appropriate expertise has been 

established 

Non-

Compliant 

3.2 The Audit and Risk Committee is an advisory committee providing assistance to 

the agency head on the agency’s governance processes, risk management and 

control frameworks, and its external accountability obligations 

Compliant 

3.3 The Audit and Risk Committee has a Charter that is consistent with the content 

of the ‘model charter’ 

Compliant 

M e m b e r s h i p  

The chair and members of the Audit and Risk Committee are: 

 Independent Chair, Malcolm Clinch, 1st July 2015, 30th June 2021 

 Non-independent Member 1, Stuart Schramm, 1st July 2015, 30th June 2021 

 Non-independent Member 2, David Bragg, 1st July 2015, 30th June 2021 

D e p a r t u r e s  f r o m  C o r e  R e q u i r e m e n t s  

I, Robert Conroy advise that the internal audit and risk management processes for the Jenolan 

Caves Reserve Trust depart from the following core requirements set out in the Internal Audit 

and Risk Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector: 

1. The circumstances giving rise to these departures have been determined by the 

Portfolio Minister and the Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust has implemented the following 

practicable alternative measures to meet the core requirements: 
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Departure Reason for departure and description of practicable 

alternative measures implemented/being implemented 

Non-Compliance 

 

 

 The agency head must appoint 

only 'independent members' 

(including an 'independent 

chair') to the agency's Audit and 

Risk Committee from the panel 

of pre- qualified individuals 

maintained by the Department 

of Finance, Services and 

Innovation (clause 3.1.4). 

 Resourcing constraints that will materially impact 

operating budgets, appropriate shared arrangements for 

compliance cannot be entered into and current or 

proposed alternative arrangements will achieve outcomes 

equivalent to the requirements. 

 

 A Jenolan Management Advisory Group (JMAG) has been 

established to oversight the financial and general 

administration of Trust matters pending the proposed 

divestment of visitor services. The JMAG comprises the 

Administrator, senior representation from the National 

Parks and Wildlife Service, the Trust General Manager and 

senior management team. An Audit and Risk Sub-

Committee of the JMAG has also been established to 

advise the Administrator. This committee is currently led 

by a prequalified and independent Chair. The Chair 

routinely liaises with the Audit Office on behalf of the 

Trust to provide assurance of the Trust's overall 

performance and compliance 

 

These processes, including the practicable alternative measures implemented, demonstrate 

that the Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust has established and maintained frameworks, including 

systems, processes and procedures for appropriately managing audit and risk within the 

Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust. 

 

ROBERT CONROY 

Administrator 

July 2017 

Contact: DAVID BRAGG   

Acting General Manager  

02 6359 3918 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Winter near Jenolan Caves 
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View of Caves House from the 
Carlotta Arch walk 
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Independent 

Auditor ’s Report  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust (the Trust), 

which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the statement of 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows for the year then 

ended, and notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information. 

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Trust as at 30 June 2017, and of its 

financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standards  

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 

the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 
 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 

standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 

section of my report.  

I am independent of the Trust in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards  

• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 

New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an Auditor-

General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 

• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 

audit opinion.  

Level 15, 1 Margaret Street, Sydney NSW 2000 I GPO Box 12, Sydney NSW 2001 I t 02 9275 7101 I f 02 9275 7179 I e mail@audit.nsw.gov.au I audit.nsw.gov.au 



 

 

The Trustees’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements  

The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such internal control as 

the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees must assess the Trust’s ability to continue as a 

going concern except where the Trust will be dissolved by an Act of Parliament or otherwise cease 

operations. The assessment must disclose, as applicable, matters related to going concern and the 

appropriateness of using the going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.  
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 

accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take based 

on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 

and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. 

The description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Trust carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  

• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 

• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

Reiky Jiang 

Director, Financial Audit Services 

 

9 November 2017 

SYDNEY 

http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf


  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

30 JUNE 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 

JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Statement by Members of the Trust 
 
 
Pursuant to Section 41C(1C) of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, and in accordance with a resolution of the 
members of the Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust, we declare on behalf of the Trust that in our opinion: 
 

1. The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015 and the Treasurer’s 
Directions. 
 

2. The financial statements and notes thereto exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position as at  
30 June 2017 and the financial performance for the year then ended. 

 
Further, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial 
statements misleading or inaccurate. 
 

 
 
 

          
 ______________________                                          
Bob Conroy                                             David Bragg 
Administrator                                    Acting General Manager 
 
 
8 November 2017               
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Start of audited financial statements 
 

JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 
 

  2017 2016 

 Notes $ $ 
  Income    

Revenue from continuing operations                                                          3 10,562,669 10,229,782 
Grants received    (NSW Govt & other) 3 107,031 218,000 
Other income 3 22,075 17,325 

Total income  10,691,775 10,465,107 
      Less:  Cost of goods sold  1,197,324 1,153,861 
Gross trading surplus  9,494,451 9,311,246 

Less: operating expenditure  
  

Personnel services  
(costs of staff provided by the OEH) 

4.1 6,121,219 6,030,709 

Personnel services (supplementary charge arising from   
(gains)/losses incurred by Defined Benefit Funds)  

4.1/14 40,190 35,187 

Bad debts written off/(recovered)  (868) (15,722) 
Consultancies  522,698 315,930 
Contract labour  190,275 279,188 
Depreciation & impairment 4.2 555,033 579,848 
Insurance  79,951 83,295 
Marketing  107,521 108,527 
Motor vehicles  46,772 43,125 
Repairs and maintenance  1,030,374 343,488 
Telephone, postage & internet  129,673 144,859 
Utilities  409,137 362,543 
Other expenses 4.3 809,927 955,118 

Total operating expenditure  10,041,902 9,266,095 
Surplus / (deficit) from continuing operations  (547,451) 45,151 
 
Other comprehensive income  

   

Items that will not be reclassified to net result:    
Actuarial gains/(losses) on Defined Benefit 
    Fund obligations  
Net asset revaluation decrement                                           

14 
 

8 

558,476 
- 

(1,250,233) 

(620,146) 
- 
- 

Total other comprehensive income for the year  (691,757) (620,146) 

Total Comprehensive Income   
 

(1,239,208) (574,995) 

 
 
 
 

The above statements of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2017 
 
 
 

 Notes 2017 2016 
ASSETS  $ $ 
  Current assets    

Cash & cash equivalents 5 5,880,448 6,091,469 
Trade & other receivables 6 176,982 200,998 
Inventories 7 111,805 158,960 

  Total current assets  6,169,235 6,451,427 
    

  Non-current assets    
Property, plant & equipment 8 14,006,083 15,365,381 

     Defined benefit fund assets 14(b)(i) 317,989 262,923 
  Total non-current assets  14,324,072 15,628,304 
    
TOTAL ASSETS  20,493,307 22,079,731 
    
LIABILITIES    
  Current liabilities  

  
Trade & other payables 9 603,604 585,692 
Provisions 10 664,308 588,962 

  Total current liabilities  1,267,912 1,174,654 
    

  Non-current liabilities  
  

Defined Benefit Fund liability 14(b)(i) 1,290,520 1,753,739 
Provisions 10 50,863 28,118 

  Total non-current liabilities  1,341,383 1,781,857 
    
TOTAL LIABILITIES  2,609,295 2,956,511 

NET ASSETS  17,884,012 19,123,220 
    

EQUITY  
  

Retained earnings/(losses) 13 2,375,333 2,364,308 
Contributed equity 12 5,831,749 5,831,749 
Reserves 13 9,676,930 10,927,163 

TOTAL EQUITY  17,884,012 19,123,220 

 
 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
 
  
 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

 

Notes 

Contributed 
equity 

Reserves Retained 
earnings 
/(losses) 

Total 

   Equity at 1 July 2015 
2016 

 5,831,749 10,927,163  2,939,303     19,698,215   

   Result for the year 
   Other comprehensive income: 
   -  Actuarial (losses)/ gains on Defined  
         Benefit Fund obligations 
    -  Asset revaluation increment 

13 
 
14(b)(vi) 

 
 

8/13 

- 
 

- 
 

           -        

- 
 

- 
      

- 

45,151 
 

(620,146) 
 

- 

45,151 
 

(620,146) 
 

- 
   Total comprehensive income for the year                 - - (574,995) (574,995) 
   Equity at 30 June 2016  5,831,749 10,927,163  2,364,308     19,123,220   
2017      
   Result for the year 
   Other comprehensive income: 
    -  Actuarial (losses)/ gains on Defined  
         Benefit Fund obligations 
    -  Net asset revaluation decrement 

13 
 
14(b)(vi) 
 

 

- 
 
 

- 
- 

- 
 
 

- 
(1,250,233) 

(547,451) 
 

558,476 
- 
- 

(547,451) 
 

558,476 
- 

(1,250,233) 
   Total comprehensive income for the year  -               (1,250,233) 11,025 (1,239,208) 

   Equity at 30 June 2017  5,831,749 9,676,930 2,375,333 17,884,012 

 
 
 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

  2017 2016 
 Notes $ $ 
Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers  10,515,951 10,141,966 
Grants received   (NSW Govt & other)  107,031 218,000 
Payments to suppliers & employees  (10,434,534) (9,999,523) 
Interest received  92,809 130,333 

    Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 15 281,257 490,776 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for property, plant & equipment 8 (492,278) (1,148,869) 
Proceeds from sale of investments  - - 

    Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities  (492,278) (1,148,869) 
    
    
Net decrease in cash & cash equivalents  (211,021) (658,093) 
    

Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of year 5 6,091,469 6,749,562 
Cash & cash equivalents at balance date 5 5,880,448 6,091,469 

 
The above statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

 
 

REPORTING ENTITY 
 

The Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust (the Trust) was constituted under the National Parks and Wildlife Amendment 
(Abercrombie, Jenolan and Wombeyan Karst Conservation Reserves) Act 1997 No. 2. The Trust’s mission is to conserve 
the natural and cultural resources of the Jenolan Karst Conservation Reserves, and to promote them as leading visitor 
destinations in a manner which is environmentally, culturally and commercially sustainable. 
 
The principal activities of the Trust are environmental conservation; cave interpretation and provision of 
accommodation and hospitality facilities at the Jenolan Caves.  During 2010/11 the Trust determined, in context of 
NSW Treasury’s Policy Paper TPP05-4, “Distinguishing For-profit from Not-for-profit Entities”, that its operations are 
undertaken on a “not for profit” basis, as the making of profit is not the Trust’s prime objective.  The Trust continues 
to strive to achieve commercial revenue from its considerable natural and built assets and activities wherever 
practical, with any surplus funds arising from the Trust’s commercial activities being fully retained within the Trust 
and used to maintain and protect the Caves and related infrastructure managed by the Trust. 

 
Authorisation of the Financial Report 
 

The financial report for the year ended 30 June 2017 has been authorised for issue by the Trust on the 
7 November 2017. 

 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless stated otherwise.  

 
 

1.1 Basis of preparation 

The entity’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared on an 
accruals basis and in accordance with: 

 applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)  

 the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Public Finance and Audit Regulation 
2015, and 

 the Financial Reporting Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General 
Government Sector Entities or issued by the Treasurer. 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at fair value. Other financial statement items are prepared in 
accordance with the historical cost convention. Judgements, key assumptions and estimations management 
has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements. 

All amounts are rounded to the nearest dollar and expressed in Australian currency (except Note 14 tables 
which are rounded to the nearest $’000). 

 

1.2 Statement of compliance  

The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian 
Accounting Interpretations. 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

1.2 Employee benefits  

The Trust does not directly employ staff.  Since 2016, Personnel Services have been provided by the Office of 
Environment and Heritage (OEH). 

i)    Salaries and wages, annual leave and associated costs    

Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the end of the period in which the employees render their services are recognised and 
measured at the undiscounted amounts of these benefits.   

Annual leave entitlements which are not expected to be taken wholly within the next 12 months are required 
to be measured at present value under AASB119 Employee Benefits.  As the Trust does not require staff to 
nominate expected periods of leave to be taken in the next twelve months, it is unable to determine a possible 
value for accumulated leave that may be taken after the next 12 months. 

The Trust considers that, as its total annual leave liability totals $322k (2016: $270k), the discounting of a minor 
component of that liability for a 1-year period would be immaterial to the total value reported.  Details of this 
liability are disclosed in Note 10. 

ii)   Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made 
in respect of services provided by the employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and period of service. At balance date, the 
liability has been determined as $393k (2016: $347k).   Details of this liability are disclosed in Note 10.   

iii)   Superannuation 

The superannuation expense for the financial year comprises the Superannuation guarantee levies payable on 
behalf of employees during the year, as well as any contribution required to the Defined Benefit Funds as 
directed by the administrator of those funds, determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s 
Directions.  

Currently the Trust has net liabilities for the unfunded portion of the relevant Defined Benefit Funds.  These 
liabilities are determined by the funds’ administrator (Pillar Administration) utilising the services of 
professional actuaries.  The liability disclosures included in these notes are in accordance with AASB119 
Employee Benefits, and are as per advice received from the fund administrator. 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

 
 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

1.4 Property, Plant and Equipment 

i)  Acquisition of assets 

The cost method of accounting is used for the initial recording of all acquisitions of assets controlled by the 
Trust. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given as consideration plus the costs incidental to the 
acquisition. 

 ii) Capitalisation threshold 

 Plant and equipment costing $5,000 and above individually are capitalised. 

  iii) Capital work in progress (WIP) 

  The initial recording of the payment for materials/labour/overheads on all capital works in progress is 
controlled by the Trust. Once the project has been fully completed, notification is provided and the project is 
then capitalised. 

iv)  Revaluation of non-current assets 

Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the 'Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at 
Fair Value' Policy and Guidelines Paper (TPP 14-01). This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 
13 Fair Value Measurement, AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment and AASB 140 Investment Property.  

Each class of physical non-current assets are normally revalued every five years and with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of each asset in the class does not differ materially from its 
fair value at reporting date.  

Revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve, except that, to the extent an 
increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset previously recognised as an 
expense, the increase is first recognised in other income.  

Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as expenses in the results for the year from ordinary 
activities, except that, to the extent that a credit balance exists in the asset revaluation reserve in respect 
of the same class of assets, they are debited directly to the asset revaluation reserve. 

Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed of, any balance remaining in the asset 
revaluation reserve in respect of that asset is transferred to accumulated funds.  

v)  Fair value measurement of non-financial assets 

Under AASB 13, there are three levels of inputs to be utilised when determining fair values of non-current 
assets.  These are defined as: 

 Level 1 inputs - observable prices for identical assets in an active market (such as listed shares); 
 Level 2 inputs – inputs, other than observable prices included within Level 1 that are observable 

for a particular asset, either directly or indirectly; 
 Level 3 inputs – unobservable inputs. 

The Standard defines that Level 1 inputs should be given the highest priority, and Level 3 inputs given the 
lowest priority. 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

1.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

The primary building (Caves House) and its related support buildings and facilities, and the Caves system and 
its supporting infrastructure, are considered “specialised assets” on the basis the House and the Caves are 
unique heritage and environmental assets.   Due to the remote and fixed location and uniqueness of these 
assets, there is no active markets or observable market prices for these assets managed by the Trust.  Also 
due to the unique and specialised nature of these heritage assets, the Trust considers there is no feasible 
alternate use available for these assets.    

vi) Valuation techniques 

a. Land and Buildings 

On the basis there is no feasible alternate use for the Trust’s assets, the Trust continues to value its building 
assets on a depreciated replacement cost basis (using Level 3 inputs).   The Trust has a number of assets which 
are utilised for non-commercial ancillary activities.  The Trust considers these assets are impaired for financial 
reporting purposes.  The Trust does not currently own any land assets. 

b. Infrastructure assets 

The Trust periodically re-values its infrastructure assets on a depreciated replacement cost basis, by 
referencing current market prices (Level 2 inputs) for similar source materials and equipment, and relevant 
labour and installation costs for similar construction types.   However, these assets are included in Level 3 as 
these assets have a high level of unobservable inputs. 

During interim reporting periods, the Trust reviews annual indexation factors and, if significant, the Trust may 
use relevant factor/s as indicator/s of recent product price movements, such that reported replacement costs 
remain relatively closely aligned with indicative market price movements for similar products and materials. 

c.  Plant & equipment 

For non-specialised assets with relatively short useful lives (such as minor plant and equipment), AASB13 Fair 
Value Measurement allows recognition of the value of such assets on a depreciated historical cost basis (as a 
surrogate for fair value, on the basis any difference to either depreciated replacement value, or disposal 
market value, would be immaterial).  Therefore, the Trust’s Plant and Equipment assets are not required to 
be reported under the fair value hierarchy. 

d.  Summary of the fair value valuation hierarchy as applied to the Trust’s assets 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Land & Buildings - - x 
Caves Infrastructure - x - 
General Infrastructure - x - 

 
A reconciliation of these Level 3 fair value measurements is included within Note 8.  There were no transfers 
of assets between classes during the year ended 30 June 2017. 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
1.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

vii) Depreciation 

Land is not a depreciable asset.   Depreciation on other assets is provided on a straight line basis over the 
useful life of the asset to the Trust, based on independent valuation (Land & Buildings), management valuation 
(Caves & General Infrastructure), or actual cost whichever is applicable to a particular class of asset. 

Major depreciation periods for significant asset groups are as follows: 

  Buildings and Workshops  10 to 100 years 
  Staff Accommodation  100 years 
  Cave Infrastructure   25 to 100 years 
  General Infrastructure  10 to 100 years 
  Plant and Equipment & Vehicles  3 to 10 years 
  Computer Equipment  3 years 

   viii) Impairment 

An impairment loss, under AASB136 Impairment of Assets, is recognised for the amount by which the assets 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is higher of an assets fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal at each reporting date. 

Where the future economic benefits of an asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate 
net cash inflows and where the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic 
benefits, value in use shall be determined as the depreciated replacement cost of the asset.   

ix) Recent revaluations undertaken 

During 2012-13, the General Infrastructure asset class was valued by the Trust’s management, using a method 
approved by the Office of Environment and Heritage (when the Office’s was formerly known as the 
Department of Environment, Climate Change and Water (DECCW), with the relevant section being the Parks 
Wildlife Trust).  JCRT staff used a method of establishing a per metre unit cost where applicable, and of 
comparing current quotations and values with indexing of historical works costs to establish a final fair value 
and new cost valuation of all general infrastructure assets.  Due to the specialised nature of these types of 
assets, this method, developed by the Trust’s employees, is considered to be the only feasible method of 
valuing this type of infrastructure. 

During 2013/14, the Land & Buildings asset class was valued by an independent professional valuer, CBRE 
Valuations Pty Limited.  CBRE have extensive experience in valuing major assets primarily held for heritage 
and environmental purposes by not-for-profit entities such as the Trust. 

During 2016/17, the Caves Infrastructure was valued by the Trust’s management, using a method approved 
by the Office of Environment and Heritage (when the Office’s was formerly known as the Department of 
Environment, Climate Change and Water (DECCW), with the relevant section being the Parks Wildlife Trust). 
This method involved applying an approved per metre cost to all items of cave infrastructure. Due to the 
specialised nature of these types of assets, this method developed by the Trust’s employees is considered to 
be the only feasible method of valuing this type of infrastructure. 

 
1.5  Cash and cash equivalents 

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash flow equivalents includes cash on hand 
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short term, highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to insignificant risk of change in value and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 



 
 

 

10 
 

JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

1.6 Trade and other receivables 

  Receivables are recognised at fair value, based on the original invoice amount less a provision for any 
uncollectible debts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer 
probable. Bad debts are written off as incurred.  

 
1.7 Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  

 

1.8 Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Trust prior to year end and other 
amounts, including accrued interest, which are unpaid at reporting date. Interest is accrued over the period 
it becomes due. 

 

1.9  Leased assets 

Leases under which the Trust assumes substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership are classified as 
finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases. 

  Operating leases 

  Payments made under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive 
income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, except where an alternative basis is more 
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property. Also refer to Note 17. 

 

 1.10   Revenue recognition policy 

Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received, net of goods and services tax (GST). Revenue 
is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 

Cave tours and sale of goods 

Revenue from cave interpretations and the sale of goods is recognised (net of returns, discounts and 
allowances) when control of the goods passes or the service is provided to the customer. 

Rendering of services 

Sales of services are recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.  For fixed price 
contracts, revenue is recognised under the percentage of completion method, based on the actual service 
provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided. 

Government grants 

Grants from the NSW Government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance 
that the grant will be received and the Trust will comply with all the attached conditions.  Other grants and 
contributions are recognised as revenues when received. 

Interest income 

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.   

 



 
 

 

11 
 

JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
  

1.11.  Goods and Services Tax  

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of goods and services tax (GST), except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances, 
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 

 Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of the cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to the ATO are 
classified as operating cash flows.   

 

1.12 Investments and other financial assets 

Classification 

The Trust classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables, held to maturity investments and available for sale financial assets.  The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.  Management determines 
the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets classified as held to maturity, 
re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date. 

(i) Financial assets at fair value through Statement of Financial Performance 

Financial assets at fair value through the Statement of Financial Performance are financial assets held for 
trading.  A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the 
short term.  Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges.  Assets in this 
category are classified as current assets. 

(ii) Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market.  They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities 
greater than 12 months after the reporting date which are classified as non-current assets.  Loans and 
receivables are included in trade and other receivables in the statement of financial position. 

(iii) Held to maturity investments 

Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturities that the Trust’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  If 
the Trust were to sell other than an insignificant amount of held to maturity financial assets, the whole 
category would be tainted and reclassified as available for sale.  Held to maturity financial assets are 
included in non-current assets, except for those with maturities less than 12 months from the reporting 
date, which are classified as current assets. 

(iv)  Available for sale financial assets 

Available for sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives 
that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.  They are 
included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months 
of the reporting date.  Investments are designated as available for sale if they do not have fixed maturities 
and fixed or determinable payments and management intends to hold them for the medium to long term.   
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
1.12 Investments and other financial assets (continued) 

 

Recognition and de-recognition 

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, the date on which the Trust 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.  Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction 
costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss.  Financial assets carried at fair 
value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the 
Statement of comprehensive income. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash 
flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Trust has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

When securities classified as available for sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments 
recognised in equity are included in the statement of comprehensive income as gains and losses from 
investment securities. 

Subsequent measurement 

Loans and receivables and held to maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

Available for sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are subsequently 
carried at fair value.  Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the 'financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss' category, are presented in the income statement within other income or 
other expenses in the period in which they arise.  Dividend income from financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss is recognised in the income statement as part of revenue from continuing 
operations when the Trust’s right to receive payments is established. 

Impairment 

The Trust assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
liability of the Trust are impaired.  In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is considered as an indicator 
that the securities are impaired.  If any such evidence exists for available for sale financial assets, the 
cumulative loss measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss   is removed from equity 
and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.  Impairment losses recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed 
through the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

1.13 Borrowings 

Prior borrowings from NSW Treasury Corporation were recognised as a financial liability, and were carried at 
the relevant fair value.  In June 2014, the NSW Department of Premier and Cabinet directly settled the Trust’s 
loan with NSW Treasury in full under a partial capital restructuring.  Since that time, the Trust has not required, 
nor sought, new loan funding. 

 
-
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

1.14 Comparative figures 

Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current financial 
year. 

 

  1.15 New accounting standards and interpretations 

i) Effective for the first time in 2016-17 

The accounting polices applied in 2016-17 are consistent with those of the previous financial year, 
with the exception of amendments made to the Statements as a result of adopting the following 
amended Standard: 

 AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party 
Disclosures to Not-for-profit Public Sector Entities extended the scope of AASB124 Related 
Party Disclosures to apply to not-for-profit entities such as the Trust.  Application of the 
Standard has resulted in supplementary disclosure of Key Management Personnel 
compensation and details of related party transactions (refer Note 20). 

ii) Issued but not yet effective 

The following relevant Accounting Standards have not been applied, and are not yet effective as per NSW 
Treasury Circular NSW TC 17/04: 
 

 AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to 
AASB107 applies to reporting periods after 1 January 2017.  The Standard amends AASB 107 Statement 
of Cash Flows to require additional disclosure regarding financing activities in the Statement of Cash 
Flows.  As the Trust does not currently have any financing facilities or borrowings, it is expected there 
will be no effect on the Trust’s financial statements. 

 AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 are applicable for reporting periods after 1 January 2018.  AASB 9 replaces AASB 139 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and establishes new principles for the financial 
reporting of financial assets, financial liabilities and hedge accounting.  The Trust considers application 
will have negligible if any effect on future financial statements of the Trust. 

  AASB 16 Leases applies to reporting periods commencing after 1 January 2019, The standard requires a 
lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by leases.  There will be a 
minor effect on the financial statements when the Trust recognises the motor vehicle and equipment 
lease values in its accounts from 2020. 

 AASB15 Revenues from Contracts with Customers (and associated standards AASB 2014-5, 2015-8,  
2016-3, 2016-7 and 2016-8) applies from 1 January 2019 to not-for-profit entities.  The Trust has 
arrangements with a number tour and accommodation resellers, however it does not expect application 
of this standard will materially effect its financial statements. 

 AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities is effective for periods after 1 January 2019.  The standard 
applies to instances where an entity acquires an asset at significantly less than its fair value for the 
purpose of furthering its objectives.  AASB 1058 also requires entities to recognise income for volunteer 
services received from others if those services can be measured reliably and the services would be 
purchased if they had not been donated.  The Trust does not currently receive or benefit from any 
voluntary services. 

 AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance 
for Not-for-Profit Entities becomes effective for reporting periods beginning after 1 January 2019.  The 
Trust does not expect the adoption of this standard will materially effect its financial statements. 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

 
  

 
2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 2.1 Financial risk management policies 

The activities of Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust may be exposed to a variety of financial risks: including interest 
rate market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Jenolan Caves Reserve Trust’s overall risk management 
program focuses on the unpredictability of the financial markets and seeks to minimise the potential adverse 
affects on the financial performance of the consolidated entity. The Trust uses different methods to measure 
different types of risk to which it is exposed including aging analysis for credit risk. 

 

a) Credit risk 

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by 
counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss.  Credit is managed by ensuring 
to the extent possible that customers and counterparties to transactions are of sound credit worthiness. 
Risk is minimised by ensuring that surplus funds are held only in financial institutions that have a minimum 
independently assessed credit rating of “A”. For customers, management assesses the credit worthiness 
of the customer, taking into account their financial position, past experience and other factors. 
Compliance with customer credit limits is monitored by management.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the reporting 
period, excluding the value of any collateral or other security held, is equivalent to the carrying amount 
and classification of those financial assets (net of any provisions) as presented in the statement of financial 
position. 

 

b)    Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Trust might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or 
otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities.  Prudent liquidity management implies 
maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an adequate 
amount of committed credit facility and the ability to close out of market positions. 

The Trust manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity 
profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, 
management aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available. Surplus 
funds are generally only invested in major financial institutions. 

 

c)     Market risk 

Exposure to foreign exchange risk may result in the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
fluctuating due to movement in foreign exchange rates of currencies in which the Trust holds financial 
instruments which are other than the AUD functional currency of the Trust.  The Trust has minimal 
exposure to commodity, foreign exchange, equity and interest rate risk. 

Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of the 
reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value 
of fixed rate financial instruments.  
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

2.1 Financial Risk Management Policies (continued) 
 

d) Fair value estimation 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and 
measurement or for disclosure purposes. 

The carrying value less impairment provision trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values due to their short term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes 
is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is 
available to the Trust for similar instruments. 

 
2.2 Financial instrument composition 

 
The Trust’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instruments value will fluctuate as a 
result of changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest rates on those financial 
assets and financial liabilities, is as follows: 

 
  Variable interest Fixed interest Non-interest bearing Total carrying amounts 

at year end 

 notes 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
1. Financial assets          

  Cash & investments 5 5,864,098 6,075,019 - - 16,350 16,450 5,880,448 6,091,469 

  Trade and other receivables 6 - - - - 176,982 200,998 176,982 200,998 

     Total financial assets  5,864,098 6,075,019 - - 193,332 217,448 6,057,430 6,292,467 
          
2.  Financial liabilities          

   Trade & other payables 9 - - - - 649,914 537,492 649,914 537,492 

     Total financial liabilities  - - - - 649,914 537,492 649,914 537,492 

 
 

 
2.3 Trade and other receivables analysis 
 
(a) Impaired trade receivables 

Trade receivables that are overdue and which are considered at risk of recovery are provided for within a 
Provision for Doubtful Debts.  At the end of the year, accounts with a nominal value of $NIL (2016: $1,000) 
were considered impaired and have been provided for. After the Trust exhausts all reasonable avenues to 
collect outstanding accounts, the amounts are considered unrecoverable and are written-off to expenses, 
2017: $132 (2016: $NIL).   

There are no amounts of collateral held by the Trust as security at 30 June 2017 in regard to any receivables. 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
2.3 Trade and other receivables analysis (continued) 
 

 
(b) Past due but not impaired 

As of 30 June 2017, trade receivables of $70,302 (2016: $61,940) were past due but not impaired. These 
relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The aging 
analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:  

 2017 2016 
Accounts Receivable - overdue amounts $ $ 

    1-30 days overdue (504) 1,203 
    31-60 days overdue 9,872 551 
    Greater than 60 days over due 9,815 1,675 
Total overdue accounts receivable 19,183 3,429 

 
There are no amounts of collateral held as security at 30 June 2017 relevant to these receivables. 

(c) Other receivables 
The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. 
Based on the credit history of these classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received when due. 

(d) Foreign exchange and interest rate risk 
The Trust is not exposed to foreign currency risk or interest rate risk in relation to trade and other 
receivables. 

(e) Fair value and interest rate risk 
Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their 
fair value. 

 

 2.4 Trade and other payables analysis 

Trade and other payables, excluding taxes payable by the Trust, are expected to be paid as follows: 

Accounts payable amounts 2017 2016 
 $ $ 
    Due within 1 month 365,008 355,699 
    Due within 1-2 months 2,300 6,788 
    Due after 2 months - - 
Total accounts payable 367,308 362,487 

 
 
 

2.5 Borrowings analysis 
 
 As noted later under Note 11, the previous fixed term, interest bearing loan held with the NSW Treasury 

Corporation, was repaid by the Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC) in June 2014.   Since that date, the 
Trust has not required or sought any new loan funding to support its normal trading activities. 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 
 

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

 
 2.6 Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
 
The Trust has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk. The Trust has 
assessed its exposure to foreign currency and price risk as minimal. 
 
At 30 June 2017, the effect on profit as a result of changes in the interest rate, if all other variables were to 
remain constant, would be as follows: 

 2017 2016 
 $ $ 

Increase in interest rate by 1% 58,641 60,750 
Decrease in interest rate by 1% (58,641) (60,750) 

 

Based on variable interest rate on net of cash holdings and loans at balance date subject to variable interest 
rates – refer Note 2.2 
 
 

3.  REVENUE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
 2017 2016 
 $ $ 

   Sales revenues   
Cave tours & related services 5,976,258 5,635,323 
Accommodation 1,651,997 1,654,550 
Special events - 2,938 
Gift shop trading 217,791 309,365 
Food and beverage sales 2,543,060 2,458,834 

 10,389,106 10,061,010 
   
   Rental income    (staff cottages) 80,754 38,439 
   Interest income  (financial institutions) 92,809 130,333 
   
Revenue from continuing operations 10,562,669 10,229,782 
   
Grants and other income   

Grants received   # 107,031 218,000 
Other income 22,075 17,325 

 129,106 235,325 
   
Total revenue 10,691,775 10,465,107 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 
 

 
  2017 2016 
  $ $ 
4.1 PERSONNEL SERVICES EXPENSE   
    
     Personnel Services - provided by OEH  6,121,219 6,030,709 
     Personnel services - (gain)/loss component of  

         the defined benefit fund cost 
40,190 35,187 

    Total personnel services expense 6,161,409 6,065,896 
 
 

4.2 DEPRECIATION EXPENSE   
    
 Depreciation of non-current assets:   
 Buildings 55,997 56,272 
 Plant & equipment 7,739 36,696 
 Caves infrastructure 182,625 182,626 
 General infrastructure 308,672 304,254 
    Total depreciation expense 555,033 579,848 

 
 

4.3 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES    
    
 Audit fees 54,000 50,000 
 Bank & credit card  62,234 61,358 
 Cleaning 197,061 189,870 
 IT maintenance & supplies 68,291 14,523 
 Printing & stationery  11,457 12,013 
 Rental expense on operating leases 58,703 184,502 
 Travel expenses 1,341 1,376 
 Other expenses 356,840 441,476 
    Total other operating expenses 809,927 955,118 

 
 

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   
      Bank – trading & cheque accounts  2,157,168 1,559,838 
      Bank – cash management accounts 598,209 426,569 
      Special purpose grant account  3,108,721 4,088,612 
  Cash on hand  16,350 16,450 
   Total cash & cash equivalents 5,880,448 6,091,469 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

 
 

  2017 2016 
  $ $ 
6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES   
    
     Trade receivables 164,420 171,161 
 Less: Provision for doubtful debts - (1,000) 
        Net trade receivables 164,420 170,161 
    
     Other receivables   
 Prepayments 12,562 30,837 
       Total other receivables 12,562 30,837 
    
   Total trade & other receivables 176,982 200,998 

 

Trade debtors to be settled within 60 days are carried at amounts due. The collectability of 
each debtor is assessed at balance date with a specific provision created for any outstanding 
debt considered doubtful. 

 
 

7. INVENTORIES   
 Marketing  6,821 13,572 
 Maintenance 2,708 2,473 
 Staff Uniforms 4,623 2,561 
 Electrical  7,191 7,467 
 Cave Tours 19,137 16,607 
 Gift Shop  23,535 56,954 
 Caves House (incl. Bistro & Restaurant) 47,790 59,326 
    Total inventories 111,805 158,960 

 All stock and materials are accounted for at cost price.   
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
8. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Current year Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
equipment 

Motor 
vehicles 

Caves 
infrastructure 

General 
infrastructure 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Capital work 
in progress 

Total 

At 1 July 2016         

Cost or fair value 8,179,320 857,391 19,466 9,602,082 9,247,926 41,460 1,693,780 29,641,425 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (6,852,604) (754,451) (19,466) (1,808,234) (4,799,829) (41,460) - (14,276,044) 

    Net carrying amount at start of year 1,326,716 102,940 - 7,793,848 4,448,097 - 1,693,780 15,365,381 
Year ended 30 June 2017         

Additions - - - - - - 445,968 455,968 
Net revaluation/impairment (at WDV) - - - (567,530) - - (682,703) (1,250,233) 
Disposals (at WDV) - - - - - - - - 
Transfers in/(out) (at WDV) 885,487 437,637 12,000 (260,956) 293,689 - (1,367,855) - 
Depreciation charge for the year (55,997) (7,739) - (182,625) (308,672) - - (555,033) 

    Net closing book value 2,156,206 532,838 12,000 6,782,737 4,433,114 
 

- 89,190 14,006,085 

At 30 June 2017         
Cost or fair value 9,064,807 1,295,028 31,466 8,893,582 9,569,826 41,460 89,190 28,985,359 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (6,908,601) (762,190) (19,466) (2,110,845) (5,136,712) (41,460) 0 (14,979,274) 

   Net carrying amount 2,156,206 532,838 12,000 6,782,737 4,433,114 - 89,190 14,006,085 
 

 

Prior year Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
equipment 

Motor 
vehicles 

Caves 
infrastructure 

General 
infrastructure 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Capital work 
in progress 

Total 

At 1 July 2015         

Cost or fair value 8,179,320 862,830 19,466 9,602,083 9,145,794 41,460 657,043 28,507,996 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (6,796,332) (717,755) (19,466) (1,625,609) (4,495,575) (41,460) - (13,696,197) 
Net carrying amount at start of year 1,382,988 145,075 - 7,976,474 4,650,219 - 657,043 14,811,799 

Year ended 30 June 2016         
Additions - - - - - - 1,148,869 1,148,869 
Net revaluation/impairment (at WDV) - - - - - - - - 
Disposals (at WDV) - (5,439) - - (10,000) - - (15,439) 
Transfers in/(out) (at WDV) - - - - 112,132 - (112,132) - 
Depreciation charge for the year (56,272) (36,696) - (182,626) (304,254) - - (579,848) 

   Net closing book value 1,326,716 102,940 - 7,793,848 4,448,097 - 1,693,780 15,365,381 
At 30 June 2016         

Cost or fair value 8,179,320 857,391 19,466 9,602,082 9,247,926 41,460 1,693,780 29,641,425 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (6,852,604) (754,451) (19,466) (1,808,234) (4,799,829) (41,460) - (14,276,044) 

   Net carrying amount 1,326,716 102,940 - 7,793,848 4,448,097 - 1,693,780 15,365,381 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

  2017 2016 
  $ $ 
9. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES    
 Customer deposits (refundable) 66,475 111,844 
 Trade payables 477,269 383,711 
 Accrued expenses - 13,770 
 Accrued employee costs/personnel services 

Audit fees 
31,110 
28,750 

28,167 
48,200 

 Total trade & other payables 603,604 585,692 
 

10. PROVISIONS   
 Current   
 Employee benefits 664,308 588,962 
  664,308 588,962 
 Non-current   
 Employee benefits - long service leave   
 Personnel services 50,863 28,118 
  50,863 28,118 
    Total provisions 715,171 617,080 

 
11. BORROWINGS   

The previous fixed term, interest bearing loan, held with the NSW Treasury Corporation, was repaid 
by the Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC) in June 2014.   Since that date, the Trust has not 
required, nor sought, any new loan funding to support its’ trading activities. 

 
12. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY   

      Balance 1 July  5,831,749 5,831,749 
 Current year movement - - 
   Balance 30 June  5,831,749 5,831,749 

 
 
13. 

 
 
RESERVES AND RETAINED PROFITS 

  

 (a) Reserves*   
  Balance 1 July  10,927,163 10,927,163 
   Net asset revaluation decrement  (1,250,233) - 
       Balance 30 June  9,676,930 10,927,163 
        * includes revaluation reserve arising from periodic revaluation of the Trust’s non-current assets. 

    
 (b) Retained profits   
 Balance 1 July  2,364,308 2,939,303 
 Result for the year (547,451) 45,151 
 Actuarial gains/(losses) on Defined Benefit  

    Fund obligations 
558,476 (620,146) 

  Retained profits/(accumulated losses) at year end 2,375,333 2,364,308 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

 
14.  DEFINED BENEFIT FUND OBLIGATIONS 
 

 
(a) Defined contribution superannuation fund 

The superannuation expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income of $461k (2016: $484k), 
represents the contribution paid to superannuation plans by the Trust.  This amount is primarily the payment of 
Superannuation Guarantee Levies into relevant superannuation plans, which are external to the Trust. The Trust 
has no other obligation or liability in regard to these plans. 

 
(b) Defined benefit superannuation fund 

As per NSW Government mandate, provision is made for anticipated future liability for superannuation 
entitlements arising under prior Government sector defined benefit funds, comprising the following funds:   
- State Authorities Superannuation Scheme (SASS) 
- State Superannuation Scheme (SSS) 
- State Authorities Non-contributory Superannuation Scheme (SANCS) 

These schemes are all defined benefit schemes – at least a component of the final benefit is derived from a 
multiple of member salary and years of membership.   All the Schemes were closed to new members during the 
1990’s, however the Trust had a number of employees who became members of these funds prior to them 
being closed to new membership and who continue to have entitlements.  

 Since these funds were closed, all superannuation plans operated by the NSW Government are now 
accumulation funds, which means the results of the funds’ investment performance accrue directly to the 
members’ entitlements.  The Trust’s liability is limited to making statutory contributions into those funds. 

The Fund Administrator provided the Trust with detailed calculations for the defined benefit funds’ net liability.  
The remaining liability was largely incurred in relation to fund members who are no longer employed by the 
Trust, however these members continue to have superannuation entitlements which require the Trust to 
recognise the liability that arises in relation to these entitlements. As the liability does not relate to current 
employees, the liability has been reported by the Trust rather than by OEH (as the current Personnel Services 
provider) to which current staff were transferred in March 2014 from the JCRT Division (which was subsequently 
dissolved).  
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
  

14.  DEFINED BENEFIT FUND OBLIGATIONS (continued) 
 
(b)   Defined benefit superannuation fund (continued)      all amounts shown are $000’s  

Funds:   SASS SANCS SSS Total 

  2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

i)   Reconciliation of the net defined benefit liability/(asset)       

Defined benefit liability/(asset) at start of year (200) (214) (64) (67) 1,754 1,117 1,491 836 
Current service cost 8 8 2 2 - - 10 10 
Net interest on the defined benefit liability/(asset) (4) (7) (1) (2) 35 34 30 25 
Actual return on funds less interest income (28) (1) (7) - (150) (2) (185) (3) 
Actuarial (gains)/losses (16) 14 (8) 4 (348) 605 (373) 623 
Employer contributions  -  - - -  - 

Net defined benefit liability/(asset) at end of year (240) (200) (78) (63) 1,291 1,754 973 1,491 

 
ii)   Reconciliation of the fair value of the funds assets       

Fair value of fund assets at start of year 436 419 113 110 2,109 2,207 2,658 2,736 
Interest income 8 13 2 3 41 64 51 80 
Actual return on fund assets less interest income 28 1 7 - 150 2 185 3 
Employer contributions - - - - - - - - 
Member contributions 2 4 - - - - 2 4 
Benefits paid (270) - (56) - (169) (174) (495) (174) 
Taxes, premiums and expenses paid - (1) - - 26 10 26 9 

Fair value of fund assets at end of year 204 436 66 113 2,157 2,109 2,427 2,658 

 
iii)   Reconciliation of the defined benefit obligation       

Present value of the defined benefit obligation at 
start of year 235 204 50 43 3,863 3,324 4,148 3,571 

Current service cost 8 8 2 2 - - 10 10 
Interest cost 5 6 1 1 75 98 81 105 
Member contributions 3 4 - - - - 3 4 
Actuarial (gains)/losses (17) 14 (8) 4 (348) 605 (373) 623 
Benefits paid (270) - (57) - (169) (174) (496) (174) 
Taxes, premiums and expenses paid - (1) - - 26 10 26 9 
Present value of the defined benefit obligation at 

end of year (36) 235 (12) 50 3,447 3,863 3,399 4,148 

 
iv)   Summary of the funds’ financial position at year end       

Accrued benefits - 234 - 48 2,035 2,060 2,035 2,342 
Net market value of fund assets (204) (435) (66) (113) (2,157) (2,109) (2,427) (2,657) 

Net (surplus)/deficit in fund assets (204) (201) (66) (65) (122) (49) (392) (315) 

 
v)   Reconciliation of amounts which have a profit and loss impact       

Current service cost 8 8 2 2  - 11 10 
Net interest (4) (7) (1) (2) 35 34 30 25 
Past service cost - - - - - - - - 
(Gains)/losses on settlement - - - - - - - - 

Profit/(loss) component of defined benefit cost 4 1 1 - 35 34 41 35 

 
vi)   Reconciliation of amounts recognised in Other Comprehensive Income        

   Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities (17) 14 (8) 4 (348) 605 (373) 623  
    Actual return on fund assets less interest income (28) (1) (7) - (150) (2) (185) (3)  
   Adjustment for effect of asset ceiling - - - - - - -   

Total re-measurement in other comprehensive income (45) 13 (15) 4 (498) 603 (558) 620  
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

14.  DEFINED BENEFIT FUND OBLIGATIONS   (continued) 
 

    
   

2017 2016 

 % % 

 
    vii)   Funds investment allocation             

   
Cash 7.7    5.4 
Australian fixed interest securities 6.2    7.1 
International fixed interest securities 1.2    2.2 
Australian equities 23.6  25.4 
International equities 30.1  31.7 
Property 8.6    9.6 
Alternatives 22.6  18.6 
 100.0 100.0 

 
All fund assets are invested by the NSW Treasury Corporation at arm’s length through independent fund 
managers. 
 
The expected return on assets assumption is determined by weighting the expected long-term return for each 
asset class by the target allocation of assets to each class. The returns used for each class are net of investment 
tax and investment fees. 

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows: 

a) Valuation method 

The Projected Unit Credit (PUC) valuation method was used to determine the present value of the defined 
benefit obligations and the related current service costs. This method sees each period of service as giving rise 
to an additional unit of benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final obligation. 
 

b) Actuarial assumptions 
                   all values are percentages 

Discount rate 2.62 1.99 
Expected salary increase rates:   

- to 30 June 2019 2.5 2.5 
- to 30 June 2021 3.5 3.5 
- to 30 June 2026 3.0 3.0 
- years thereafter 3.5 3.5 

Expected rate of CPI increase 2.5 - 3.5 2.5 - 3.5 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

 
    

  2017 2016 

 $ $ 
 
   15.    RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT TO NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Result for the year (547,451) 45,151 
    Add back:   

 Actuarial gains/(losses) on Defined Benefit Fund obligations 558,476 (620,146) 
 Depreciation & impairment 
 Loss on disposal of assets 

555,033 
- 

579,848 
15,439 

Change in operating assets and liabilities   
(inc)/dec in receivables 24,016 25,192 
(inc)/dec in inventories 47,155 46,517 
 inc/(dec) in trade & other payables 64,222 (230,439) 
 inc/(dec) in provisions & defined benefit fund net liability (420,194) 629,214 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 281,257 490,776 
 
   16.    REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 

        Auditing of the Financial Statements 54,000 50,650 
      

 No other services were provided by the external auditor during the financial year. 
 

17.    LEASE COMMITMENTS 
 

Operating Leases  

Future non-cancellable operating lease rentals (comprising motor vehicles & electronic cave guide 
system) not provided for and payable in future periods: 
 

not longer than one year 53,056 65,213 
longer than one year and not longer than two years 27,356 53,163 
longer than two years and not longer than five years  3,987 35,866 

Total lease commitments (inclusive of GST) 84,399 152,242 
 

    18.   CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Applications for native title under the Native Title Act 1993 and Aboriginal Land Rights Act 1983 have 
been made over various areas of land which may ultimately have certain operational and financial 
effects depending on the outcomes.  It is not possible to assess the quantum of such effects, if any, 
that may arise upon finalisation of the claims. 

In 2012/13, the Trust received an advance payment from the NSW Environmental Trust of $743,718 
to undertake rectification works within the caves to remove contaminating fencing materials.  These 
works were commenced during 2013/14, and continued through to 2016/17.  

Work undertaken to date has been periodically inspected by the Environmental Trust officers.  The 
inspections have confirmed the works have been undertaken to the Environmental Trust’s 
satisfaction.  At balance date, the Trust expects the remaining work to continue to full completion, 
and accordingly, the Trust (Jenolan Caves) expects the Environmental Trust will not request refund of 
any of the previously advanced funding for the project (the full grant funding was disclosed as revenue 
upon receipt in 2012/2013). 
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JENOLAN CAVES RESERVE TRUST 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

 

 

18.   CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued) 

This particular Grant had two key components, $50,000 for an educational component, with the 
remainder being for removal of aging ferrous material from various caves, and replacement of the 
removed infrastructure with structures fabricated using stainless steel. 

The grant was to be repaid, not in cash, but via “environmental” offsets generated from 
various Jenolan Trust projects with targeted environmental benefits. 

The Educational component was to be used to reimburse Jenolan Trust for related educational 
programs. 

 

The Trust had no other contingent liabilities at balance date (2016: nil). 

 
  19. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS 

 2017 2016 
 $ $ 

Not longer than 1 year 322,485 - 
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years - - 
Longer than 5 years - - 
Total capital commitments  322,485 - 

 
At 30 June 2017, the Trust had no outstanding payments for completed or unfinished capital projects.   

 
20.  RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE 

The Trust’s Division was dissolved on the 24 February 2014.  Since that date, Personnel Services have 
been provided to the Trust by the Office of Environment & Heritage (OEH).   

In December 2016, the NSW Treasury released TC16-12 Related Party Disclosures to provide guidance 
for agencies regarding the application of AASB124 Related Party Disclosures.   

The Trust’s Key Management Personnel have been identified as the Administrator (non-Executive) and 
General Manager roles. 

Remuneration (including superannuation contributions) of the Key Management Personnel amounted 
to $152,725 plus post-employment income of $14,509, during 2016/17.  The Administrator did not 
receive any remuneration from the Trust. 

During the year, the Trust sought declarations from the Key Management Personnel in relation to actual 
or potential transactions that may require disclosure under this new Standard.  Responses from the Key 
Management Personnel confirmed the Trust has not entered into any arrangement or transactions with 
the Key Management Personnel, their close family members or entities controlled or jointly controlled 
by these individuals. 

 

21. POST BALANCE DATE EVENTS 
  
  No events have occurred since balance date that will materially affect these financial statements.  

             
            
  End of audited financial statements. 
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